
1 
 

 

Title: Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 23 March 2015 

Time: 2.00pm 

Venue Hove Town Hall Council Chamber 

Members: Councillors: 
Mitchell (Chair) 

 Janio 
Brown 
K Norman 
Wilson 
Bowden 
 

Hawtree 
Powell 
Summers 
Davey 
 

Contact: Giles Rossington 
Acting Head of Scrutiny 
01273 291110 
giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 

 



2 
 

 

AGENDA  
Part One 

Page 

 

44 Substitutes and Declarations of Interest  
 

1 - 2 

 (copy attached) 
 

 

45 Minutes  
 

3 - 10 

 To consider the draft minutes of the last meeting held on 27 January 2015 
(copy attached). 
 

 

46 Chairs Communications  
 

 

47 Public Involvement  
 

 

 To consider the following matters raised by members of the public: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions presented by members of the 

 

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use during 
the meeting.  If you require any further information or 
assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the 
nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you follow 
their instructions: 
 

• You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

• Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

• Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

• Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 



3 
 

public to the full council or at the meeting itself; 
(b) Written Questions: to receive any questions submitted by the due 

date of 12 noon on the (insert date); 
(c) Deputations: to receive any deputations submitted by the due 

date of 12 noon on the (insert date). 
 

48 Member Involvement  
 

 

49 Report of the Scrutiny Panel on the Private Rented Sector  
 

11 - 98 

 Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (copy attached) 
 

 

50 Update on Short Term Lets Scrutiny Panel  
 

99 - 106 

51 Future Overview & Scrutiny Arrangements  
 

107 - 
122 

 For information: extract from P&R/Full Council report on changes to the 
council’s constitution (copy attached) 
 

 

 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be 
raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact scrutiny@brighton-
hove.gov.uk  
 

 
Date of Publication 16 March 2015 

 

 





Agenda item 44 

 

PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 

A. Declaration of Substitutes 

 
Where a Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is unable to attend 
a meeting for whatever reason, a substitute Member attend and speak and 
vote in their place for that meeting. Substitutes are not allowed on Scrutiny 
Select Committees or Scrutiny Panels. 
 
The substitute Member shall be a Member of the Council drawn from the 
same political group as the Member who is unable to attend the meeting, and 
must not already be a Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
substitute Member must declare themselves as a substitute, and be minuted 
as such, at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as they arrive.  

B. Declarations of Interest 

  
(1)     To seek declarations of any personal or personal & prejudicial interests 

under Part 2 of the Code of Conduct for Members in relation to matters 
on the Agenda.  Members who do declare such interests are required to 
clearly describe the nature of the interest.   

   
(2)    A Member of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Scrutiny Panel or 

other scrutiny body has a prejudicial interest in any business at meeting 
of that Committee where –  

 
(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or 
not) or action taken by the Executive or another of the Council’s 
committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees; 
and 
 
(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken the Member 
was  
 

(i) a Member of the Executive or that committee, sub-committee, 
joint committee or joint sub-committee and  

 
 (ii) was present when the decision was made or action taken. 
 
(3) If the interest is a prejudicial interest, the Code requires the Member 

concerned:-  
 

(a) to leave the room or chamber where the meeting takes place while 
the item in respect of which the declaration is made is under 
consideration. [There are three exceptions to this rule which are set out 
at paragraph (4) below]. 
 
(b) not to exercise executive functions in relation to that business and  

 

1



Agenda item 44 

 

 
(c) not to seek improperly to influence a decision about that business. 

 
(4)    The circumstances in which a Member who has declared a prejudicial 

interest is permitted to remain while the item in respect of which the 
interest has been declared is under consideration are:- 

 
(a) for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or 
giving evidence relating to the item, provided that the public are also 
allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether under a 
statutory right or otherwise, BUT the Member must leave immediately 
after he/she has made the representations, answered the questions, or 
given the evidence, 
 
(b) if the Member has obtained a dispensation from the Audit and 
Standards Committee, or 
 
(c) if the Member is the Leader or a Policy Committee Member and 
has been required to attend before an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or Sub-Committee to answer questions. 

C. Declaration of party whip 

 
To seek declarations of the existence and nature of any party whip in relation 
to any matter on the Agenda. 

D. Exclusion of press and public 

 
To consider whether, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted, or 
the nature of the proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from 
the meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 
 
NOTE:  Any item appearing in Part 2 of the Agenda states in its heading the 
category under which the information disclosed in the report is confidential 
and therefore not available to the public. 
 
A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 
inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls and on-line in the Constitution at 
part 7.1.. 
 

2



1 
 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

2.00pm 26 JANUARY 2015 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Councillor Mitchell (Chair) 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Janio (Deputy Chair), Brown, Wilson, Bowden, Hawtree, 
Powell, Summers and Simson 
 
 

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

38 APOLOGIES AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
33.1 Cllr Simson attended the meeting as a substitute for Cllr Ken Norman. 
 
33.2 There were no interests declared; no member declared that they had been subject to a 

party whip; and the press & public were not excluded from any part of the meeting. 
 
39 MINUTES 
 
34.1 RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting of the meeting of 20 October 2014 be 

agreed as an accurate record. 
 
40 CHAIRS COMMUNICATIONS 
 
35.1 Cllr Janio asked for it to be noted that he believed that OSC should be chaired by the 

official opposition group, the Conservatives, rather than as currently, a representative of 
the Labour Group. 

 
41 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 
36.1 There was none. 
 
42 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 
 
37.1 There were no member questions. 
 
43 REPORT OF THE 2015-16 BUDGET SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

3



 

2 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 26 JANUARY 
2015 

43.1 Cllr Mitchell, who had chaired the budget scrutiny panel, told the committee that the 
panel had been struck by the complexity of this year’s budget planning and by how 
much good work was taking place. Moves to protect and coalesce the council’s 
‘intelligence’ functions were also welcomed by the panel. However, panel members had 
concerns about the cumulative impact of the savings plans, and about assumptions that 
as yet unspecified service changes would deliver significant in-year savings. 

 
43.2 Cllr Simson agreed that the budget sessions had been very informative: it was good to 

see so much starting to happen. However, it was disappointing that the lead members 
for some service areas had been unable to attend the panel’s evidence gathering 
meetings. It was also disappointing that Community Works had not been able to 
participate in the formal budget scrutiny panel process to the same extent as in previous 
years.  

 
43.3 Cllr Hawtree noted a dichotomy between the civilised and consensual tone of the budget 

scrutiny report and the tone of debate at previous budget council meetings. Cllr 
Summers agreed that it was unfortunate that budget debate too often ended in party 
political wrangling and was reported so negatively in the local media. It would be useful 
if the media reported the findings of the budget scrutiny panel, since it would show how 
hard the council was working to make the organisation more efficient. 

 
43.4 Cllr Mitchell told the committee that it was important that new members were thoroughly 

briefed about budget and other financial matters – this should be included in the new 
member induction programme, and potentially also in the sessions currently being run 
for aspirant new members. Cllr Wilson noted that training on budget issues would have 
been useful to her; as a member who joined the council following a by-election she had 
not gone through the new member induction process. 

 
43.5 RESOLVED – that the budget scrutiny panel report be endorsed and referred to Policy 

& Resources committee for consideration. 
 
44 REPORT OF THE SCRUTINY PANEL ON SOCIAL VALUE 
 
44.1 This item was introduced by the panel Chair, Cllr Bill Randall, who told the committee 

that this was one of the most important pieces of work he had been involved in during 
his 12 years as a Councillor. 

 
44.2 The council is already very active in recognising and encouraging social value, as 

evidenced by the weighting of the recent contract for domestic violence services (with 
70% of the contract award based on quality and social value). However, more can be 
done to ensure that the council adopts a consistently positive approach to social value, 
following the good practice established locally by the Clinical Commissioning Group. 
This is particularly important in the context of significant funding reductions, and in terms 
of the move away from grants in favour of commissioning. 

 
44.3 Cllr Randall thanked the other panel members, Cllrs Anne Meadows and Dee Simson, 

noting that there had been unanimity throughout the panel process. He also thanked 
Julia Riches from the scrutiny team for her work in administering the panel and writing 
the panel report. 

 

4



 

3 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 26 JANUARY 
2015 

44.4 Cllr Simson agreed that this had been an important and necessary piece of work, and 
one which all council departments needed to take on board. 

 
44.5 In answer to a question from Cllr Mitchell about measuring social value in contracts, Cllr 

Randall told members that this was tricky, although there had been recent progress 
nationally. However, it was important to persevere in developing methods to measure 
and evaluate social value. When tendering, commissioners need to be able to factor in 
the value of community trust in well-established services, and the importance of ‘sticky 
money (i.e. of contracting with local bodies which re-invest in the local community). 
Contracting purely on the basis of cost risks missing really significant added-value, 
particularly in terms of community & voluntary sector services. 

 
44.6 Cllr Janio told members that he supported social value, and would like to see much 

more use of it – for example through communities taking over community assets.  
 
44.7 Cllr Randall welcomed cross-party support for the concept of social value, noting that it 

was an idea that reached across party political boundaries. The ‘Social Value’ Act itself 
originated in a private member’s bill from a conservative MP in response to the loss of 
the ‘Bombadier’ contract to foreign competition. 

 
44.8 RESOLVED – that the scrutiny panel report be endorsed and referred to the relevant 

policy committee for consideration. 
 
45 TRANS EQUALITIES SCRUTINY PANEL: ANNUAL IMPLEMENTATION REPORT 
 
40.1 This item was introduced by Nicky Cambridge, People & Place Coordinator; and by Dr 

Sam Hall, Chair of the Clare Project (a local Transgender support group). 
 
40.2 Ms Cambridge told members that this was the Year 2 monitoring report for the Trans 

Equalities scrutiny panel. Work supporting the Trans community has moved on 
considerably from the original focus of the scrutiny panel, and is now very much 
community-led. 

 
40.3  The only red (RAG ratings) remaining relate to specialist NHS services for gender re-

assignment. There is very limited local influence on these services, which are 
commissioned on a sub-regional basis, but to a nationally-set formula. However, the 
council and representatives of the local Trans community have met with the NHS 
England Surrey & Sussex Area Team to discuss issues. Also, the Brighton & Hove 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has responded very positively to the panel report 
and has included services for Trans people in its Annual Operating Plan – almost 
certainly the first CCG to explicitly acknowledge Trans health needs in this way. Dr Hall 
added that whilst there is currently not much opportunity to locally influence nationally 
commissioned services, such as those for gender reassignment, it may be possible to 
develop a local offer which reduces the need to do so.  

 
40.4 There is also a somewhat mixed picture in terms of the panel recommendations 

concerning training. HR have not fully implemented the panel recommendations here, 
instead focusing their training offer on key teams. However, the training that has been 
delivered has been very well-received and some teams have found it so useful that they 
have themselves commissioned additional training. 

5



 

4 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 26 JANUARY 
2015 

 
40.5 Dr Hall told the committee that the Trans community welcomed the scrutiny process, 

which had played an important role in building trust and raising the profile of Trans 
needs. Going forward, key to the council delivering high quality services to its customers 
is ensuring that internal equalities issues are being handled effectively. Training is 
therefore critical, and needs to be mandatory. 

 
40.6 Dr Hall also told members that the current Trans needs assessment was likely to identify 

significant gaps in terms of healthcare, mental health, and wellbeing. 
 
40.7 Dr Hall suggested that the council should attempt to showcase the Trans equalities 

scrutiny nationally. Ms Cambridge agreed, noting that there was a potential opportunity 
to build on the work of the panel and on subsequent work by the Trans community and 
the council’s Communities team, by holding a conference in Brighton which would 
highlight the city’s approach as best practice in engaging with Trans people. 

 
40.8 Cllr Bowden stated that this was an important report – the first time that the needs of the 

Trans community have been properly recognised. Much more needs to be done to 
address transphobia however, and the message must be disseminated more widely – 
for instance to the local business community via the Chamber of Commerce. The LGB 
community needs to consider its own attitudes to Trans people also. 

 
40.9 Cllr Janio agreed that this was an excellent report; it is good that we are challenging 

national policy on behalf of local people. 
 
40.10 Cllr Powell echoed previous comments and asked whether it would be possible to re-run 

the recent Trans awareness training following the council elections in May 2015. Ms 
Cambridge responded that 12 members had attended the recent training session, and 
that it was intended that this would be run again post May as part of new member 
induction. 

 
40.11 Cllr Powell proposed that future monitoring of this issue should be undertaken either by 

the Health & Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny Committee (HWOSC) or by the Health & 
Wellbeing Board (HWB). The Acting Head of Scrutiny responded by informing members 
that a report would be presented to the March OSC and HWOSC meetings, detailing 
plans for the future monitoring of scrutiny panel reports, including the panel on Trans 
Equalities. 

 
40.12 RESOLVED – That OSC members have considered and commented on the Trans 

Equalities implementation report, and have noted the progress made to date. 
 
 
46 TRAVELLER STRATEGY SCRUTINY PANEL: ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 
 
46.1 This item was introduced by Andy Staniford, Housing Strategy Manager; Sheila Peters, 

Traveller Liaison Service; and by Paul Ransom, Sussex Police. 
 
46.2 Mr Staniford told the committee that, whilst the focus of media attention was inevitably 

on illegal encampments, the main focus of the Traveller Strategy was in fact on reducing 
inequalities experienced by Gypsy & Traveller communities. There had been excellent 

6



 

5 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 26 JANUARY 
2015 

work in this respect in recent months, particularly in terms of the development of a 
dedicated local education service, and with the CCG and Sussex Police both prioritising 
Traveller issues. 

 
46.3 In response to a question from Cllr Hawtree on ‘van dwellers’, Mr Staniford told 

members that people living in vans are not officially categorised as Travellers (although 
‘new age Travellers’ may be). The council is developing a van dweller protocol, although 
the need to focus resources on illegal encampments has delayed this. 

 
46.4 Cllr Summers told members that, for ward Councillors, Traveller issues posed both a 

local and a citywide challenge. The recent member decision to reject proposals for a 
temporary transit site is a good example of members prioritising local concerns over 
wider strategic goals, and risked increasing problems across the city. 

 
46.5 Inspector Ransom told the committee that community liaison has improved recently, 

although engagement with Local Action Teams (LATs) was still patchy in some areas. 
Liaison between police services across Sussex has also improved, with more consistent 
decision-making across the county, and shared best practice – for example learning 
from East Sussex on how to use ‘Section 62’ orders more effectively. However, 
decisions on encampments need to be taken in light of the local circumstances, so there 
will never be absolute consistency across Sussex.  

 
46.6 In response to a question from Cllr Simson on cross-border cooperation, Inspector 

Ransom told the committee that it was not possible to re-locate an encampment across 
local authority borders. In any case it would generally not be appropriate, as most 
Travellers encamping in Brighton & Hove are local families. 

 
46.7 In answer to a question from Cllr Simson on Traveller education, Mr Staniford told 

members that there had been some disruption to the service following the decision to 
establish a local service rather than sharing a service with East Sussex. Things have 
subsequently settled down, but a marked improvement in attainment is unlikely until the 
permanent site is established. 

 
46.8 RESOLVED – that the report be noted. 
 
47 IMPLEMENTATION UPDATE ON TOILET SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
47.1 This item was introduced by Jan Jonker, Head of Strategy & Projects, Environment. 
 
47.2 Mr Jonker told members that this was the first annual monitoring report of the Public 

Toilets scrutiny panel. There was generally very good public toilet provision in the city, 
although funding would be a major issue going forward. The council has drafted an 
action plan in response to the scrutiny recommendations and work is ongoing on 
surveying toilets and developing an investment strategy. Charging for some public 
toilets is currently being trialled. Although charging may help off-set costs, the need to 
have an attendant nearby (e.g. to assist people if toilet barriers stop working) means 
that city toilets will never be self-funding. The council is also exploring options to reduce 
water use in toilets and to develop an app detailing city toilet locations. However, it 
appears that there is no realistic prospect of being able to use the ‘late Night Levy’ to 
part-fund city toilets. 

7



 

6 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 26 JANUARY 
2015 

 
47.3 In response to questions about the ‘Use Our Loos’ scheme, Mr Jonker told the 

committee that there had been a good deal of work to encourage businesses to sign up 
to the scheme, but there was little enthusiasm for it. There may be opportunities to 
access other toilet facilities (for example in GP surgeries), and these are being actively 
explored. 

 
47.4 In answer to a question from Cllr Simson about the sign advertising Norton Road car 

park toilets, Mr Jonker told members that he would check whether the sign was accurate 
and ensure it was amended if not. 

 
47.5 RESOLVED – that the report be noted. 
 
48 EQUALITY AND INCLUSION POLICY PROGRESS REPORT 
 
48.1 This item was introduced by Emma McDermott, Head of Communities; and Sarah 

Tighe-Ford, Equalities Coordinator. 
 
48.2 Ms Tighe-Ford told members that significant events in the past year included the 

formation of the EQUIP group and the council’s ranking as the top local authority in the 
annual Stonewall index of LGBT friendly employers. 

 
48.3 In response to a query from Cllr Powell as to why the Cllr Equalities champions were not 

invited to join EQUIP, Ms McDermott responded that, whilst all political groups are 
represented on EQUIP, the equalities champions were not explicitly invited. This is 
something that will need to be considered going forward. Cllr Simson suggested that 
equalities champions could be invited to join EQUIP for issues that were particularly 
relevant to their portfolios.  

 
48.4 In answer to a question from Cllr Bowden about Stonewall, Ms Tighe-Ford told members 

that it was unclear why the council had not been placed on the Stonewall top 100 last 
year, although the council has challenged Stonewall about this. The council will need to 
consider the cost of Stonewall in future years, although the work with regard to the 
Stonewall index is used to inform other equalities work. 

 
48.5 Cllr Bowden commented that he found Stonewall’s attitudes to Trans people outdated 

and unhelpful. Ms Tighe-Ford noted that the council have challenged Stonewall on this, 
asking them what they are doing to help other local authorities improve their 
understanding of Trans issues. 

 
48.6 In response to a question from Cllr Summers on a faith staff forum, Ms Tighe-Ford told 

members that staff forums were established by staff willing to set up a group. To date 
there had been little interest from staff in doing this – but the Equalities team would 
support a group if there was enthusiasm for it. 

 
48.7 RESOLVED – that the report be noted. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at Time Not Specified 

 

8



 

7 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 26 JANUARY 
2015 

Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

9



10



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 49 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

Subject: Report of the scrutiny panel on Private Sector 
Housing 

Date of Meeting: 23.03.15 

Report of: Assistant Chief Executive   

Contact Officer: Name: Karen Amsden Tel: 29-1084 

 Email: Karen.amsden@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
Note:  The special circumstances for non-compliance with Council Procedure Rule 3, 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 5 and Section 100B(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), (items not considered unless the agenda is 
open to inspection at least five days in advance of the meeting) were that it 
proved impossible to publish this report on time because the panel Chair had not 
approved the final draft. 

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 On 20th October 2014 the OSC agreed to establish a scrutiny panel to look at 

private sector housing in Brighton & Hove. The Panel members were Professor 

Darren Smith, Professor of Geography, Loughborough University (Chair), 

Councillor Chaun Wilson and Councillor Phélim MacCafferty. 

1.2 The scrutiny panel report is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That OSC endorse the scrutiny panel report on the private rented sector 

(Appendix 1) and refer it on for consideration by the appropriate policy 
committee(s).  

 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 In 2011 a scrutiny panel had looked into the issue of lettings agents in the city. It 

made six recommendations for the council. In 2014 a request was received from 
the Citizen’s Advice Bureau to look again at this issue using a scrutiny panel, 
because of the ‘…worrying increase in the number of people seeking advice from 
CAB’1 in relation to the private rented sector and letting agents. 

 
3.2 This request to set up a Panel was approved at the council’s Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 20th October 2014.  The panel set their terms of reference 
as 

                                            
1 http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00005368/AI00042816/$LettingAgentsPrivateRentalsFINAL.docx.pdf 
 

11



 

 

 
To:  
 

• Understand the current private sector housing market in the city and how it has 

changed since 2011;  

• Consider the best ways of managing  private sector housing and improving 

standards in this sector; 

• Determine whether the relevant actions identified for private rented housing in 

the Draft Housing Strategy 2015 tie up to the evidence gathered by the panel. 

Where possible the panel will suggest how these actions could be practically 

implemented.  

3.3 The Panel held three public evidence gathering sessions in January 2015 and 
also attended the Strategic Housing Partnership on 21st January to seek their 
views and input. The minutes from the evidence gathering sessions are 
appended to the scrutiny panel report. The Panel also received verbal and 
written evidence submitted in confidence to them about the experiences of a 
number of residents living in the private rented sector. 

 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
4.1 The OSC has the option to decline to endorse the scrutiny panel report.  
 
 
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The panel members spoke to a wide range of partners and stakeholders; please 

see the attached panel report for full details.   
 
6. CONCLUSION  

6.1 In line with normal procedure, we are asking that the OSC endorses this report 
and refers it on to the appropriate BHCC Policy Committee(s) for consideration.    

 
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 
7.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from the report of this scrutiny 

panel.  
 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Name Date: dd/mm/yy 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 Once OSC has agreed its recommendation based on the work of the scrutiny 

panel, it must prepare a formal report and submit it to the council’s Chief 
Executive for consideration at the relevant decision-making body.  

 

12



 

 

7.3 If OSC cannot agree on one single final report, up to one minority report may be 
prepared and submitted for consideration by the relevant policy committee with 
the majority report.   

   
 Lawyer Consulted: Name Date: dd/mm/yy 
 
 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 An equalities impact assessment was conducted as part of the process of 

scoping the panel. No significant implications were identified.   
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 There were no direct implications, but sustainability matters are dealt with in the 

body of the scrutiny report.  
 

Any Other Significant Implications: 
 
7.5  None identified 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
1. The report of the Private Sector Housing Scrutiny Panel  
 
 
Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
None 
 
Background Documents 
 
1. Scrutiny report on Lettings Agents, 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13



 

 

 
 

14



1 
 

Scrutiny Panel Report on Private Sector Housing  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report of the Scrutiny Panel 

March 2015 

 

 

Private Sector Housing 

 

Panel Members 

 

Professor Darren Smith (Chair) 

Councillor Chaun Wilson 

Councillor Phélim MacCafferty 

 

 

15



2 
 

Contents  

 

Chair’s Foreword          page 4  

 
Report of the panel         page 

5Minutes of the panel meetings       page 28 

16



3 
 

 

Chair’s Foreword  

Profound changes to the dynamics of the local private sector housing market are 

unfolding in Brighton and Hove.  Evidence from the Scrutiny Panel witnesses 

suggests that there is an ever-widening mismatch between supply and demand for 

affordable private sector housing in the city, and more and more people in the city 

are facing adverse experiences and challenges tied to the private sector housing. 

What are some of the possible outcomes of these emerging processes of change?  

In the absence of a comprehensive and deep evidence-base, and during these 

uncertain times, it is, difficult to predict how the local market for private sector 

housing will look in 2020.  Nevertheless, it is possible to make speculations about 

some important directions of travel. 

First, it is highly likely that current concerns of affordability in the private sector 

housing market will reach critical levels, as increasingly high (dis)proportions of 

individual and household incomes are used to meet rising rental costs.  The current 

economic relationships, noted by some organisations in the city, between the 

required monthly/annual incomes to meet average rental costs, as well as excessive 

property and mortgage costs for home-buyers, is striking.  In this way, perhaps 

Brighton and Hove is becoming an exclusive city for the rich, from the perspective of 

both private rented and owner-occupied housing, and, it is clear from the scrutiny 

panel, that these two strands can intersect in transformative ways. 

Good-quality, private sector and owner-occupied housing is increasingly ‘out of 

reach’ for some social groups in the city.  What is unfolding in the city are 

exclusionary processes that will lead to the displacement of many low income and 

vulnerable social groups from Brighton and Hove; constrained and forced to move 

out of the city into relatively lower-cost local housing markets along the South-East 

coast and beyond.  Undoubtedly, this will put more and more pressures on the social 

housing sector to meet the pressing needs of low income and vulnerable social 

groups.  These intensified flows of out-migration from the city may transform the 

ambience of the city, and, in part, reconfigure the senses of place of Brighton and 

Hove.   

At the same time, as Brighton and Hove increasingly becomes an exclusive, ‘suburb 

by-the-sea’ of the global city of London, and more and more relatively affluent in-

migrants from London seek private rented housing in city, there may be a 

gentrification of private sector housing in the city.  This may further fuel the economic 

incentives for landlords and private investors to acquire and convert more of the 

dwindling supply of owner-occupied dwellings into Housing in Multiple Occupation 

(HMO).   

Key here will be the wider effects of the development of new-build, purpose-built 

student accommodation for both growing national and international student 

17



4 
 

populations in the city.  It is unclear how these new developments will impact on the 

wider private sector housing market.  For instance, will new developments of 

purpose-built student accommodation lead to the destudentification of some 

neighbourhoods, in a similar way to other towns and cities in the UK?  Or, perhaps, 

the development of new-build, purpose-built student accommodation will increase 

the availability of private sector housing for other social groups in the city such as 

young professionals and key workers, or indeed, allow these neighbourhoods to 

return to so-called ‘family areas’?  

Of course, the city’s private sector housing market does not operate in a vacuum, 

and the Scrutiny Panel has shed light on some of the ways that  private sector 

housing is influenced by changes in owner-occupied, social, and other housing 

sectors in the city.  Indeed, the local housing market of the city is increasingly inter-

woven with regional, city-regional and national housing markets, and these 

relationships will clearly shape the ways in which the private sector housing market 

in the city is transformed between now and 2020.  

It is clear from the witnesses of the Scrutiny Panel that action is urgently needed to 

gather more regular, robust evidence-bases of the changing private sector housing 

market in the city.  Deeper understandings are also required of  the merits and 

effects of legislative powers such as Article 4 Directions, licensing, and other 

management-related practices such as accreditation, rate-my-landlord, and ethical 

codes, to foster the supply of well-managed and high-quality  rented housing, that is 

both affordable and matches the needs of the diversity of local citizens within 

Brighton and Hove. 

 

Professor Darren Smith, Professor of Geography, Loughborough University  

March 2014 

  

18



5 
 

Why was this panel set up? 

In 2011 a scrutiny panel had looked into the issue of lettings agents in the city. It 

made six recommendations for the council. In 2014 a request was received from the 

Citizen’s Advice Bureau to look again at this issue using a scrutiny panel, because of 

the ‘…worrying increase in the number of people seeking advice from CAB’1 in 

relation to the private rented sector and letting agents. This request to set up a Panel 

was approved at the council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 20th October 

2014.      

The Panel members were Professor Darren Smith, Professor of Geography, 

Loughborough University (Chair); Councillor Chaun Wilson and Councillor Phélim 

MacCafferty. The panel set their terms of reference to: 

• Understand the current private sector housing market in the city, and how it 

has changed since 2011;  

• Consider the best ways of managing  private sector housing and improving 

standards in this sector; 

• Determine whether the relevant actions identified for private sector housing in 

the Draft Housing Strategy 2015 tie up to the evidence gathered by the panel. 

Where possible the panel will suggest how these actions could be practically 

implemented.  

 

The Panel held three public evidence-gathering sessions in January 2015 and also 

attended the Strategic Housing Partnership. The minutes from the evidence-

gathering sessions are appended to this report. The Panel also received some 

verbal and written evidence submitted in confidence from people in the city living in 

the private sector housing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The table below shows who came and gave evidence in public to the panel 

                                            
1 http://present.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000726/M00005368/AI00042816/$LettingAgentsPrivateRentalsFINAL.docx.pdf 
 

19



6 
 

Name Job Title Organisation 
Candice 
Armah 

President Brighton Students’ Union  

Abraham 
Baldry 

President University of Sussex 
Students’ Union 

Paul Bonett Managing Director Bonett’s  
Charles 
Dudley 

Director of Residential and Campus 
Services 

University of Sussex 

Rob Fraser Policy and Major Projects Manager BHCC 

Julie Frith Partner – Land and New Homes Mishon Mackay 

David Gibson Co-ordinator Living Rent 
Clive Gross East Sussex Community Co-ordinator Generation Rent 
Chris Henry  Home Sweet Home 

Alistair Hill Public Health Consultant BHCC 

Ann Johnson  Citizens Advice Bureau 

Tim Nicholls Head of Regulatory Services BHCC 

Councillor Bill 
Randall 

Chair of Housing Committee Brighton & Hove City 
Council (BHCC) 

Geoff Raw Executive Director of Environment, 
Development and Housing 

BHCC 

Cathy Reeves Vice Chair London Road Local Action 
Team (LAT) 

Martin Reid Head of Private Sector Housing  BHCC 
Dean Spears  Housing Services Manager  University of Sussex  
Sabina 
Wagner 

Assistant Head of Accommodation 
Services 

Brighton University 

Gary Waller 
and Mike 
Stimpson 

 Southern Landlords 
Association 

Andy Winters Chief Executive Brighton Housing Trust 
 

 

  

20



7 
 

Panel Recommendations 

Due to the pressure of timescales, the Panel decided to conduct a short inquiry with 

the aim of coming to some broad conclusions that would not only feed into the 

development of the action plan supporting the Housing Strategy 2015, but also lay 

down markers for the incoming Executive to pick up after the Elections in May 2015. 

The recommendations below are intended to inform the implementation of the 

Housing Strategy and the development of even more effective partnership working 

around Private Sector Housing in the city. Panel members recognise that there is a 

lot of good practice in the city, particularly in terms of organisations joining forces in 

new and innovative ways.  

Panel members also recognise that there is much happening with regard to private 

sector housing in the city that they did not have the chance to explore. It may 

therefore well be the case that the panel has recommended something that is 

already happening! 

RECOMMENDATION 1 - To have a commitment to support a strong and 
buoyant local private sector housing market in the city (see page 11). 

RECOMMENDATION 2 - To more fully understand how the local private sector 
housing market has changed in Brighton and Hove since 2011, and to 
evidence the impacts of new purpose-built student accommodation on the 
wider private sector housing market (p11).  

RECOMMENDATION 3 - To provide more regular systematic reviews of the 
evidence-base underpinning the Housing Strategy (p11). 

RECOMMENDATION 4 - To more effectively regulate the conversion of owner-
occupied, family dwellings into shared private rented housing in relevant areas 
of the city, using licensing schemes and other legislative powers, to assess 
and improve the management and standards in HMOs (13). 

RECOMMENDATION 5 - To consider the effects of the Article 4 Direction on the 
proliferation of HMOs in the city, and the use of licensing schemes and other 
legislative powers (p13).  

RECOMMENDATION 6 – To explore ways to increase the supply of affordable 
owner-occupied housing for first-time-buyers and key workers in the city 
(p15). 

RECOMMENDATION 7 - To further improve the identification of empty homes 
and voids within private sector housing, and to maximise the use of private 
sector housing in more efficient ways (P16). 

RECOMMENDATION 8 – To work in a more joined-up way with neighbouring 
local authorities to strategically plan housing supply and demand in a regional 
context (p16). 

21



8 
 

RECOMMENDATION 9 – To have a commitment to allow the universities to 
continue to grow their student populations across the Greater Brighton area, 
in recognition that they operate in a context of uncertainty and a more 
competitive (inter)national environment within higher education (p17). 

RECOMMENDATION 10 – To consider the effects of the densification of 
affordable, purpose-built, student accommodation on university campuses 
within the city, and outside the Lewes Road corridor (p19). 

RECOMMENDATION 11 – To explore the potential to identify/develop sites of 
opportunity for affordable student housing developments in other parts of the 
Greater Brighton area, which will appeal to students alongside the 
development of student-oriented infrastructures (i.e. transport, services) (p20). 

RECOMMENDATION 12 – To promote the development of student union and/or 
university letting agencies (p21). 

RECOMMENDATION 13 – To promote the development of university-endorsed 
landlords and letting agents, and encourage the universities and student 
unions to champion these landlords to students (p21). 

RECOMMENDATION 14 – To promote the use of a city-wide rate-my-landlord 
scheme for all private sector housing (p21). 

RECOMMENDATION 15 – To develop ethical models for letting agents, estate 
agents and landlords, and create a website with a list of these ethical 
organisations (p23). 

RECOMMENDATION 16 – To consider the development, and promote the 
uptake and benefits to landlords of registration to PRS accreditation schemes 
(p23). 

RECOMMENDATION 17 – To create a register of landlords who have been 
proven to have undertaken retaliatory evictions (p23). 

RECOMMENDATION 18 – To explore ways to increase the supply of private 
sector housing with rental costs that are affordable (e.g. for key workers in the 
city) and in line with representative household incomes in the city (p25). 

RECOMMENDATION 19 – To explore ways to increase the supply of affordable 
‘social housing’ for key workers and vulnerable people (i.e. older people living 
in PRS housing which is not suitable for them and not readily adaptable, 
and/or people with mental health conditions who might previously have been 
accommodated in social housing) (p27). 

RECOMMENDATION 20 – To further foster joined-up working between city 
council departments (e.g. housing, public health) and other relevant 
organisations (e.g. Southern Landlords’ Association, CAB, Brighton Housing 
Trust, city universities) (p27). 

22



9 
 

 

 

 

Report of the Private Sector Housing Scrutiny Panel 

Private sector housing – homes offered for rent by independent for-profit landlords 

has always played an important role in terms of both national and local housing 

markets, alongside owner occupation and ‘social’ housing from councils or registered 

social landlords.  

Recent years have seen a significant rise in the proportion of homes rented via the 

private sector – Shelter estimates that there has been a 69% increase in private 

sector housing in England since 2001, with around 9 million people now renting their 

homes privately.2  

The growth of private sector housing is the result of a number of factors: increasing 

property prices; more stringent mortgage conditions; the development of ‘Buy-to-Let’ 

(BTL) as an investment vehicle; large-scale international investment in UK property; 

the relative decline of social housing; increasing numbers of students and insecurely 

employed people; growing demand for housing caused by external and internal 

migration; evolving family structures, with more families living separately due to 

marital breakdown; and a number of other causes. 

Issues concerning private sector housing are of particular relevance to Brighton & 

Hove because the city is unusually dependent on the sector. The 2011 census 

showed that 29.6% of people in Brighton & Hove rent privately, compared to an 

England average of 16.8%.3  

Evidence to the panel emphasised that private rentals play a vital role in all housing 

markets, which is certainly the case in this city. However, the rapid growth of one 

form of housing tenure tends to cause problems for local areas. 2011 figures showed 

that in Brighton & Hove, owner occupation had decreased while private sector 

housing grew because ‘…landlords were competing more successfully than first time 

buyers to purchase properties.’4 

This report explores some of key issues highlighted by the evidence given to the 

scrutiny panel, and suggests, if not solutions, then at least some areas that local 

partners in Brighton & Hove need to explore in greater depth, using vehicles such as 

the Strategic Housing Partnership. 

                                            
2
 Ref from advice services paper 

3
 Ref from advice services paper (The South East average is 16.3%) 

4
 Martin Reid, Head of Housing Strategy, Development & Private Sector Housing, Minutes of the 

Panel meeting 09.01.15 (session 1)  http://present.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000866/M00005594/$$$Minutes.doc.pdf 
 

23



10 
 

 

 

 

Intelligence 

Evidence to the panel showed that in recent years the local housing market 

increasingly complex and volatile. There are several reasons for this. Firstly, if the 

Brighton & Hove market was ever a closed system, this is no longer the case – there 

is a really significant influx of people into the city, mainly from London, and the rate 

and volume of this immigration depends on factors outside local control, such as 

London house prices. According to the Chief Executive of Brighton Housing Trust 

‘…73% of people buying homes in the city now have a current address in London’.5 

There is also a growing sub-regional market, with increasing numbers of people 

working in Brighton & Hove, but living in East or West Sussex where property prices 

are currently more affordable. We are also increasingly seeing migration from the 

city of people reliant on Housing Benefit, as real city rents exceed Local Housing 

Allowance payments, forcing people to relocate to places where rents are more 

affordable. A member of the Southern Landlords Association reported to the panel 

that a tiny minority of his rentals (5 one bed room units out of only 450 tenancies) 

were at the LHA level.6  

It was clear to the panel that key city partners need to have an up-to-date 

understanding of the current housing situation: the scene is changing too quickly and 

too significantly for us to rely on periodic measures such as the ten-yearly census 

data (last collected in 2011). Similarly, where city partners come together to work out 

how to deliver high-level plans, such as the 2015 Housing Strategy, it is important 

that these are dynamic plans that can be fine-tuned as the market evolves. To this 

end, the Housing Strategy needs to be supported by a system which constantly 

reviews and updates its evidence-base. 

Fortunately, it is already the case that city partners are developing methods to better 

understand and share information on housing. This work, which underpins both our 

Strategic Housing Partnership and the development of the current Housing Strategy, 

should be commended. However, the market is developing so rapidly and throwing 

up so many new challenges that the panel were convinced that there is the need to 

work ever more innovatively to ensure that we capture and make use of really up to 

date housing intelligence. 

                                            
5
 Andy Winter, Chief Executive of Brighton Housing Trust, Minutes of the panel meeting 09.01.15 

(session 2) http://present.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000866/M00005595/$$$Minutes.doc.pdf  
6
 Mike Stimpson, Southern Landlords Association,09.01.15 (session 2 - see link in ref 5)   

24



11 
 

This is relevant to many aspects of the city housing market, but there is a special 

urgency in the context of student housing. our local universities have undergone 

significant expansion in recent years and have ambitious plans going forward .Whilst 

this expansion has undoubtedly brought many economic and cultural benefits to the 

city, evidence to the panel has highlighted some of the  problems it has caused in 

terms of housing an increasing number of young people, especially in terms of 

additional pressures on private sector housing and particularly on family housing in 

the East Brighton wards that are in close proximity to the university campuses.  

The panel heard that:  

‘…the demands of student housing was expected to grow by 12,000. Only 6,000 

additional homes can be identified, leaving another 6,000 student households to look 

for housing in the private rented sector.’ 7 

In response to these pressures there has been a recent move to construct more 

bespoke student accommodation, both on campus and around the city. Whilst it is 

hoped that this additional targeted capacity will reduce pressures on local private 

sector housing, it is not currently clear whether the intended impact has been 

achieved, and whether it can meet the ever increasing growth of student numbers. 

RECOMMENDATION 1 - To have a commitment to support a strong and 
buoyant local private sector housing market in the city. 

RECOMMENDATION 2 - To more fully understand how the local private sector 
housing market has changed in Brighton and Hove since 2011, and to 
evidence the impacts of new purpose-built student accommodation on the 
wider private sector housing market.  

RECOMMENDATION 3   - To provide more regular systematic reviews of the 
evidence-base underpinning the Housing Strategy. 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 

Private sector housing includes all types of housing. One type of housing that has 
received particular attention in the panel’s evidence is that of HMOs – former family 
homes that have been converted into shared housing for groups of at least three 
unrelated people, typically students or young professionals (and more recently 
migrant workers). Figures in the Housing Strategy estimate that there are 6,460 
HM0s in the city (which is 9 times the national average).8  HMOs have a vital role to 
play in providing affordable, high-density housing, but their proliferation has become 
associated with a range of problems, resulting in the Government granting local 
authorities legal powers to license regulate and limit the expansion of HMOs. Initially, 
these powers were restricted to larger HMOs and the Housing Strategy reported that 

                                            
7
 Geoff Raw, Executive Director of Environment, Development & Housing, BHCC Minutes of the 

Panel meeting 09.01.15 (session 1)  http://present.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000866/M00005594/$$$Minutes.doc.pdf 
8
 Brighton & Hove Housing Strategy 2015,  insert ref to Housing Committee 

25



12 
 

the council currently licences, or has an application to licence, 1040 of these larger 
HMOs in the city. 

The council subsequently introduced an additional licensing scheme to improve the 
quality, safety and management of smaller HMOs in five Lewes Road wards that link 
central Brighton to the University of Brighton and University of Sussex campuses. 
This has resulted in an additional 2035 additional license applications.9 

To date, HMO licencing in the city appears to have been largely successful, 
particularly in terms of providing a lever to encourage HMO landlords to improve the 
repair, the fire safety and the thermal efficiency of their properties to their own benefit 
and the benefit of their tenants and the broader community. The council is currently 
consulting on extending the licensing of smaller HMOs to a further seven wards in 
the city where there is evidence of a growing proliferation of HMOs. 

Panel members support this proposed extension of HMO licencing. It is a valuable 
tool to help manage standards in a key part of the PRS, and to achieve some degree 
of grip on the development of private sector housing across the city. The aim should 
not be to halt the growth of HMOs, but to mitigate the impact of the spread upon 
local communities.  

A limited number of local authorities, such as LB Newham, have gone further and 
introduced a selective licensing scheme for all private sector landlords in a specified 
area.  Martin Reid explained to the panel that this kind of scheme: 

‘…required a high level of evidence and consultation… [so] members would need to 
be confident about introducing such a scheme before planning to do so.’10  

Another power at the disposal of the council is to use Article 4 Directions which can 
be used to require planning applications to change the use of a single dwelling into a 
small HMO.11 Rob Fraser explained that these powers, which cannot be used 
retrospectively, had been in use in the city since April 2013 in the same five wards as 
the extended licencing scheme where there was ‘clear evidence’12 for its need.   

Gary Waller of the Southern Landlords Association believed that this use of Article 4 
had  

‘…stopped conversions in that area for student accommodation although that had 
been where landlords had got the maximum yield. This had probably led to such 
developments happening in other areas of the city.’   

Cllr Randall spoke of his concern that:  

                                            
9
 Insert ref to housing Strategy 

10
 Martin Reid, Head of Housing Strategy, Development & Private Sector Housing, Minutes of the 

Panel meeting 09.01.15 (session 1)   
11

 Insert link on council website on Article 4 
12

 Rob Fraser, minutes of the meeting 

26



13 
 

‘…the council had been less successful in curbing the growth of new HMOs and 
there was a need to use this power in areas where the market for HMOs was 
growing such as Hollingdean.’13 

However, Rob Fraser did believe though that without sufficient evidence ‘…it may 
harder to build a case for the rest of the city.’14 

RECOMMENDATION 4 - To more effectively regulate the conversion of owner-
occupied, family dwellings into shared private rented housing in relevant areas 
of the city, using licensing schemes and other legislative powers, to assess 
and improve the management and standards in HMOs. 

RECOMMENDATION 5 - To consider the effects of the Article 4 Direction on the 
proliferation of HMOs in the city, and the use of licensing schemes and other 
legislative powers.  

 

Supply 

Much of the evidence to the panel highlighted that many of the difficult issues that 
the local housing market faces could ultimately be seen as supply issues: Brighton & 
Hove has a housing market in which demand exceeds supply, which means that 
prices are driven up and quality can suffer.  

According to the Housing Strategy 2015: 

‘The city has one of the highest average house prices outside London coming within 
the top 10 local authorities and high rents in the private rented sector making rent 
unaffordable for many households. It is estimated that an additional 18,038 
affordable homes are needed by 2017.’15  

One of the more obvious solution to supply problems is to increase supply in the city 
– in other words to build more homes. In this instance though, it is unclear how 
effective this would be. Firstly, the local housing market is not a closed system, and 
increasing local housing supply might result in a greater influx of people from London 
rather than cheaper and better quality housing for local people. Julie Frith of Mishon 
Mackay told the panel when marketing new apartment blocks she had found that: 

‘…approximately 60% of these units were being sold to investors. While one could 
argue that improving the number of homes to rent was taking the pressure off the 
lower end of the market, the selling of so many homes to investors was not helping 
the city.’   

Julie Frith explained that these trends meant that in the rental market: 

                                            
13

 Councillor Bill Randall, minutes of the meeting  
14

 Ibid 
15

 Housing Strategy 

27



14 
 

‘…many new homes are changing and becoming more luxury lets, to foreign 
language students and overseas students. These products did not tend to appeal to 
existing renters who prefer the older properties in the city.’16  

The evidence suggests then  that even if local people ended up living in newly 
created housing, it could well be as private sector housing tenants, paying rent to 
investors from London or further afield: new housing schemes are increasingly being 
sold ‘off-plan’ to investors many months before they are completed. Local buyers 
who need to live in the property they are purchasing from Day 1 are effectively 
excluded from this type of market. 

The evidence given to the panel, led its Chair Darren Smith to emphasise that there 
appeared to be: 

‘The ‘perfect storm’ being the mismatch between the supply and demand for housing 
in the city.’17    

Secondly, increasing housing supply in Brighton & Hove is by no means a simple 
task because there is a very limited amount of land suitable for housing available in 
the city. Much of what does exist is problematic, either because it is in the form of 
brown-field sites that require very significant investment in infrastructure and 
decontamination (such as Shoreham Harbour); or because it is in the form of green 
space on the urban fringe, and building on it will be strongly opposed by local 
communities (as in recent plans to develop land around Ovingdean). Although it was 
suggested by Councillor Bill Randall that: 

‘There was a need to look at other ways to increase supply such as the debate about 
building on the fringe of the city, which …should be done through a city wide 
community land trust. If this was done through a co-op, then the council can 
nominate people in need to this housing and help the sons and daughters of those 
living in Brighton.’18  

The panel appreciate that there are limited opportunities to build new homes then. 
However, this does not mean that there are zero opportunities; and, where there are 
new builds (such as the Toad Hall site) it is important that they are used as 
strategically as possible. For instance, more could potentially be done to explore the 
possibility of reserving a proportion of properties on new-build schemes for first time 
buyers or for local key workers. It would be very useful to consider what would be the 
particular wishes and expectations of such groups, when developing such housing 
schemes.    

The importance of doing this was emphasised by Cllr Bill Randall, who told the panel 
that the increasing unaffordability of much of the rented sector was impacting on the 
employment market in the city: 

                                            
16

 Julie Frith, Evidence to the panel 
17

 Darren Smith evidence to the panel 
18

 Councillor Bill Randall, evidence to the panel  

28



15 
 

‘Employers in east Brighton were now not tending to advertise jobs in East Brighton 
because of this. There was a need to join up these elements of the economy. For 
example, Tony Mernagh (CE of the Brighton & Hove Business Forum) would ask 
employers ‘where is the workforce?’ and ‘where will they live?’ So this gentrification 
could be restraining the economy of the city.’19 

Geoff Raw explained to the panel that:  

‘…the Housing Corporation used to have key worker funding which did not exist now 
but planning obligations meant that 40% of developments were expected to be 
affordable housing. However this was interpreted very flexibly and so RSLs tended 
to deliver this through shared ownership rather than rented housing because it was 
more viable.’20   

He also explained that where the council owned the land it could influence its 
partners to develop accommodation for key workers, although this would need to be 
a ‘political decision’.21 Geoff Raw also suggested that:  

‘…other means to produce long term rentals for key workers could include joint 
ventures and establishing trusts. This is because if the council raises debt to develop 
then it needs to know that these properties would not be liable to Right to Buy. 
Universities and schools could also enter into similar arrangements to develop 
accommodation they need.’22  

RECOMMENDATION 6 – To explore ways to increase the supply of affordable 
owner-occupied housing for first-time-buyers and key workers in the city. 

Increasing housing supply is not just about new builds. There may be a significant 
number of properties across the city that are standing empty. Whilst there may be 
often be valid reasons for a property being void for a period of time, for example due 
to probate or because the property is waiting for major repairs, it may also be the 
case that there is no good reason why a property should stand empty in a city 
experiencing a housing crisis. It is therefore incumbent on the council and its key 
partners that everything possible is done to minimise the number of residential 
properties that are left empty – particularly those properties that are owned by the 
council or by Registered Social Landlords. The panel are pleased to see that in the 
last 13 years almost 2,000 privately owned empty homes have been brought back 
into use.  New initiatives planned include an update of the Empty Property Action 
Plan setting out how and why the council takes action on empty properties, and a 
clearer Enforcement Protocol outlining action that will be taken to ensure properties 
are improved and returned to use when negotiation has failed.23 

The potential of using private sector non-residential property also needs to be 
explored as fully as possible. This may take the form of encouraging businesses to 

                                            
19

 Ibid 
20

 Geoff Raw, Minutes of the meeting  
21

 Ibid 
22

 Ibid 
23

 http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/press-release/almost-2000-empty-homes-brought-back-
use-brighton-hove 

29



16 
 

use the space above shops as flats rather than storage space. It might potentially 
mean looking at re-designating retail or office space as residential where there is 
clearly no business demand for that space. One of the aims of proposed national 
planning reforms is to make this easier by allowing light industrial, storage and 
distribution buildings to change to residential use.24  

RECOMMENDATION 7 - To further improve the identification of empty homes 
and voids within private sector housing, and to maximise the use of private 
sector housing in more efficient ways. 

Even if we were successful in using all our available building land strategically, and 
in minimising the number of empty and underused properties throughout the city, 
there would still be severe supply problems in the Brighton & Hove housing market. 
It is therefore vital that, when we consider housing demand and supply, we do so in 
a broader geographical context. 

This is important because there is considerably more opportunity to build new 
housing in some neighbouring areas than in Brighton & Hove. It is also key because 
the city is already effectively part of a sub-regional housing and work market, with 
many people who work in the city commuting from West or East Sussex, and an 
increasing number of local people accepted as homeless being accommodated 
outside the city, but within the Local Housing Allowance area, where rents are more 
likely to be covered by Housing Benefit payments.25 

The obvious place for this regional discussion to take place is at the level of the 
Great Brighton Economic Board (GBEB), which brings Brighton & Hove City Council 
together with Lewes, Mid Sussex, Adur and Worthing District Councils, as well as a 
number of other key local organisations. Geoff Raw described the GBEB as ‘….a 
great opportunity for cooperation to enable more sites to come forward for 
development.’26  

RECOMMENDATION 8 – To work in a more joined-up way with neighbouring 
local authorities to strategically plan housing supply and demand in a regional 
context. 

                                            
24

 
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=web&cd=3&ved=0CC4QFjAC&url
=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.parliament.uk%2Fbriefing-
papers%2FSN06418.pdf&ei=oP0GVYWrMcu0UZiDhKgB&usg=AFQjCNGragFUvgHq9aG-eDAPMi0-
WpNG1w&bvm=bv.88198703,d.d24 
25

 The Local Housing Allowance (LHA) sets the maximum Housing Benefit rates payable for different 
types of accommodation across an area. The LHA is currently set at the 30

th
 centile of rents across 

the local area (i.e. the rent you would need to pay to afford the cheapest 30% of 1 bed flats in the 
local area). Unfortunately, LHA rates do not necessarily accurately reflect the actual cost of housing 
within an area such as Brighton & Hove, in part because our LHA area includes areas such as 
Shoreham and Newhaven where rents are significantly cheaper than they are in Brighton & Hove. 
Research by Advice Brighton & Hove using the council’s ‘Rent and Local Housing Allowance 
Comparison’ indicates that only 1% of family homes in the city fall within the LHA rate, as do just 0.3% 
of rents charged for shared houses, and 2% of 1 bed homes. See http://www.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/sites/brighton-hove.gov.uk/files/2015%20LHA%20Rates%20Report%20%28Feb%29.pdf 
 
26

 Geoff Raw, Minutes of the meeting 

30



17 
 

Geoff Raw also highlighted the need to work with other investors such as RSLs and 
private investors to bring on new developments.27  

 

Students 

Brighton & Hove is fortunate to house two universities – the University of Brighton 
and the University of Sussex. In recent years both universities have expanded 
significantly, producing enormous economic and cultural benefits for the city. Both 
universities are set to expand further in coming years – the University of Sussex 
alone plans to increase student numbers by around 50% by 201828. Our universities 
are locked into increasingly fierce competition with their national and international 
peers, and see a programme of improvement and expansion as the only way to 
remain sustainable. Given the importance of our universities as employers and 
wealth creators, the panel understands the rationale behind these expansion plans. 

RECOMMENDATION 9 – To have a commitment to allow the universities to 
continue to grow their student populations across the Greater Brighton area, 
in recognition that they operate in a context of uncertainty and a more 
competitive (inter)national environment within higher education. 

Although universities have undoubtedly been a boon for their host cities, not all their 
impact has been positive. In recent years, a number of cities, including Brighton & 
Hove, have begun to realise that housing some tens of thousands of students, often 
concentrated in a few areas, can cause significant problems. This ‘studentification’ of 
parts of a city (i.e. where the number of students living in shared accommodation in 
private sector housing reaches a critical mass) can cause problems in terms of noise 
nuisance, anti-social behaviour, public transport, parking and littering. The fact that 
many students are only resident during term time can impact upon local businesses 
which struggle to cope with demand reducing drastically for several months of the 
year. The sustainability of schools and other local services can also be impacted by 
large numbers of people who do not have children; and generally the presence of so 
many relatively transient residents can impact upon community resilience and make 
long-standing communities feel less secure in their lives.29 A scrutiny panel 
considered this issue in detail in 2009.30 

The panel heard from Cathy Reeves of the London Road Local Action Team (LAT) – 
an area with a high concentration of students - that:  

                                            

27
 Ibid 

28
 http://www.sussex.ac.uk/aboutus/ourstrategy/ 

29
 Martin Reid, Minutes of the panel meeting 

30
 http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/council-and-democracy/councillors-and-

committees/students-community-2009 

31



18 
 

‘…when the LAT meetings were advertised, students did come and talk to them 
about issues. Often students did not know when to put the rubbish out and other 
important information, but seemed keen to engage with the rest of the community.’31 

Students are also in competition (although they may not themselves realise this) with 
other groups of people for finite housing resources. Geoff Raw highlighted to the 
panel that because students are willing to put up with sharing quite limited amounts 
of space, and because they are generally able to pay quite high rents, this 
competition often results in the conversion of family housing into student HMOs – 
landlords can typically generate a considerably higher income by renting a 3 
bedroom house out to 3 or more students than to a family32. This has a particular 
impact upon lower income families. This is especially so in Brighton & Hove, where 
much of the city’s ‘affordable’ family housing lies to the east of city – often in former 
council houses. Since both of the city universities have their campuses in this area, 
this is the main locus of Brighton’s student housing, and the past few years have 
seen the loss of many such family homes to the student market. With the potential to 
build new affordable family housing in the city so limited, this loss is very acutely felt. 

There is then a real challenge to the city around managing the expected increase in 
student numbers in ways which mitigate negative impacts. It seems certain that we 
will have to manage increases, because expansion is essential not just to the growth 
but to the survival of our universities.  

Perhaps the most obvious way to mitigate the impact of increasing student numbers 
on settled communities and on private sector housing across the city is to build 
dedicated student accommodation – i.e. halls of residence for first year students; or 
purpose-built flats, which can be popular with post-graduate students, particularly 
those from abroad. There has been a good deal of dedicated student 
accommodation built in the past few years, both by the universities and private 
developers, on and off campus. Whilst this provision undoubtedly increases student 
housing capacity in the city, it is not currently clear how beneficial its impact has 
been in broader terms. There is an urgent need for more investigation here: the city 
needs to know whether or not to prioritise the roll-out of this kind of development, not 
least because a number of the sites that could potentially be developed as student 
housing might alternatively be used to provide housing for other key groups. 

While the panel were supplied with figures about the expected growth in student 
numbers and the universities’ plans to accommodate them, they were still somewhat 
uncertain as to the full extent of the additional housing pressures that may be 
created by the expansion of the universities and their ability to meet that need.33  
Indeed, Charles Dudley, Director of Residential and Campus Services did say that 
despite their work to meet growing need: 

‘It was very difficult to say what will happen going forward.’34 

                                            
31

 Cathy Reeves, Minutes of the panel meeting 
32

 Geoff Raw, Minutes of the panel meeting 
33

 Charles Dudley, Dean Spears and Sabina Wagner,  Minutes of the panel meeting on  
34

 Charles Dudley, Minutes of the panel meeting 

32



19 
 

RECOMMENDATION 10 – To consider the effects of the densification of 
affordable, purpose-built, student accommodation on university campuses 
within the city, and outside the Lewes Road corridor. 

An alternative way to relieve pressure on Brighton & Hove is for the universities to 
develop out of city campuses, as Brighton University has done in recent years in 
Hastings and Eastbourne. Councillor Randall commended the establishment of its 
Eastbourne campus because: 

‘…there was only a finite amount of land in the city.’35 

To date, the University of Sussex has remained firmly based in Falmer. It may well 
be the case that it is easier to sell a Brighton-based university to prospective 
students than one which is some distance from the city. However, the use of 
extended campuses has obvious potential benefits in terms of mitigating the impact 
of additional student numbers on the city, even if it does mean lower student spend 
in Brighton & Hove. 

Where additional students will definitely be coming to, and living in, the city, another 
option is to look at what can be done to encourage the wider ‘dispersal’ of students. 
It is unsurprising that most students choose to live in East Brighton, since this is 
traditionally an area of affordable housing and is close to the campuses and other 
buildings of both universities. Over time a student ‘infrastructure’ has grown up along 
the Lewes Road corridor, with student-friendly shops and bars, and regular transport 
along the Lewes Road to Falmer. 

Julie Frith of Mishon Mackay observed that: 

‘…students tended to live in the corridor of subsidised buses and then remained in 
that area.’36 

Candice Armah, President of the Brighton Students’ Union agreed that: 

‘Subsidised student travel could help. It was increasingly difficult to say honestly to 
people to come here when housing was unaffordable and the buses don’t turn up.’37  

However, Brighton & Hove is a small city, and many other areas could potentially 
host student residents, reducing the impact on the east of Brighton, and in particular 
avoiding the tipping-point at which the prevalence of students in an area alters their 
impact from a net positive to a net negative. In order to encourage students to live 
further from the universities, and businesses to offer student-friendly accommodation 
and other services, we need to better understand what factors motivate students to 
live where they do. For instance, is the determining factor public transport links, or is 
it having local shops and bars, community safety, specific facilities in the 
accommodation or access to high speed broadband?38  

                                            
35

 Councillor Bill Randall, minutes of the panel meeting 
36

 Julie Frith, Minutes of the panel meeting 
37

 Candice Armah, Minutes of the panel meeting 
38

 Sabina Wagner, Minutes of the panel meeting 

33



20 
 

This is particularly important in the context of encouraging our universities to grow 
across the Greater Brighton area. If there is to be significant growth in out of city 
student accommodation, there is a clear need for it to be as attractive to students as 
living in the city. 

RECOMMENDATION 11 – To explore the potential to identify/develop sites of 
opportunity for affordable student housing development in other parts of the 
Greater Brighton area, which will appeal to students alongside the 
development of student-oriented infrastructure (i.e. transport, services). 

 

Student Housing and Quality 

Student housing has traditionally had a reputation for being of particularly poor 
quality. Young people are not necessarily particularly savvy consumers, and may be 
willing to put up with cramped and poorly-maintained accommodation, either 
because they do not understand their rights or because they believe that they may 
otherwise be unable to access housing. This makes students particularly vulnerable 
to poor quality or unscrupulous landlords and letting agents. Abraham Baldry, 
President of the University of Sussex Students’ Union told the panel that: 

‘From the perspective of the 40,000 students in the city, it [private sector housing] 
was in crisis. The demand outstripped supply, the rents were amongst the highest in 
the country, and there were problems with lettings agents.’39   

This was reinforced by Candice Armah, President of the Brighton Students’ Union 
who said that: 

‘The main challenges facing students were: price; condition of accommodation; 
student loans insufficient; pressure to rent early and not enough bigger houses.’40 

 In recent years there has been a good deal of work to both improve private sector 
housing student accommodation and to encourage students to be more pro-active 
consumers. A campaign ran by the University of Sussex Student Union made 
students aware of the pressures they may face from estate agents to take on rental 
agreements too early, called ‘Don’t Rent Yet.’41  Another initiative has been for 
universities or student unions to develop their own letting agencies which operate to 
a high ethical standard – for example, not charging excessively for services or 
undertaking unnecessary checks. 

An allied initiative sees the development of landlord and letting agent ‘accreditation’, 
with the universities and unions advising students only to deal with landlords and 
agents who are accredited or who can otherwise demonstrate their respectability. 
Operators who do not seek or achieve accreditation may be denied permission to 

                                            
39

 Abraham Baldry, Minutes of the panel meeting 
40

 Candice Armah, Minutes of the panel 
41

 Abraham Baldry, Minutes of the panel 

34



21 
 

advertise in university buildings or publications, whilst those who are accredited can 
be championed as exemplars of good practice.42 

The University of Sussex Student Union has also successfully launched a ‘rate your 
landlord’ scheme which asks students renting in private sector housing to provide 
candid feedback on their accommodation and on the behaviour of their landlord. This 
type of direct customer feedback is traditionally lacking from the private sector 
housing ‘market’, where renters are rarely ‘experts’ in renting, but is essential if 
customers within a market are to make rational evidence-based decisions. This 
scheme had found that: 

‘25% said their experiences were good and 25% said their experiences were very 
negative of the private sector.’43   

The panel believe that these are all really worthwhile schemes, and their further roll-
out across city universities and other further and higher educational institutes, such 
as language schools, should be encouraged. Cathy Reeves of the London Road LAT 
suggested to the panel 

‘…that it would go a long way to have a ‘scores on the door’ scheme for rental 
properties, similar to that for eating establishments and food hygiene. This would 
help potential renters to find good landlords and lettings agents.’44 

Such a scheme was also suggested by the campaign group Home Sweet Home.45  

RECOMMENDATION 12 – To promote the development of student union and/or 
university letting agencies. 

RECOMMENDATION 13 – To promote the development of university-endorsed 
landlords and letting agents, and encourage the universities and student 
unions to champion these landlords to students. 

RECOMMENDATION 14 – To promote the use of a city-wide rate-my-landlord 
scheme for all private sector housing. 

 

Quality in Private Sector Housing 

The majority of the quality issues that affect student renters also impact upon other 
people living in private sector housing accommodation. In recent times, customer 
complaints about the behaviour of unscrupulous landlords and letting agents have 
increased at an alarming rate. 

For a number of years, renters and tenant pressure groups have complained about 
the behaviour of letting agents, particularly in terms of the charges agents often 
                                            
42

 Ibid 
43

 Abraham Baldry, Minutes of the panel 
44

 Cathy Reeves, Minutes of the panel 
45

 Chris Henry, Minutes of the panel 

35



22 
 

impose for taking up references, running credit checks, renewing tenancy 
agreements etc. It is frequently felt that these charges can be excessive, or that the 
services charged for are either unnecessary or should be paid by landlords rather 
than tenants. Concern about such charges led to the council establishing a scrutiny 
panel in 2011.46 

By no means all letting agents act in this manner: some agents, particularly the more 
established agents who charge higher fees to landlords, pride themselves on dealing 
fairly with tenants. However, people looking to rent typically have little idea whether a 
given letting agent is ethical or not, and therefore little real opportunity to make 
informed market decisions. 

Paul Bonett explained to the panel: 

‘…anyone can set up an agency and a lot of them were franchises. One should 
become a member of the Association of Rental Lettings Agents (ARLA) which 
offered a bonded scheme/code of practice, and this should be expected to be the 
norm for any agency. But without belonging to such a scheme, one can get the 
people who did not give a damn.’47   

A similar issue exists for landlords, some of whom behave ethically, whilst others do 
not. This seems to be a growing problem, possibly due to the relatively recent 
expansion of the Buy-to-Let market which has seen many small-scale ‘accidental’ 
landlords take up renting.48 These landlords do not have the considerable 
commercial experience of established commercial landlords, which makes them 
vulnerable to exploitation by letting agents – for example being encouraged to ‘churn’ 
their properties every six months or so, thereby maximising agent income from 
charges to incoming tenants to the detriment of tenant welfare but also potentially to 
the detriment of landlord self-interest (which may be better served by nurturing long-
term relationships with reliable tenants).49 In other instances, a minority of 
unscrupulous landlords may simply choose to pursue their own interests at the 
expense of their tenants. 

One solution to this problem is for an independent body, such as the local authority, 
to develop and promote ethical models for letting agents and landlords – for example 
through accreditation schemes. The publicising of ‘best practice’ for letting agents 
and landlords could potentially help tenants be better informed about their rights and 
responsibilities. It could also signpost them to reliable, ethical landlords and agents. 
Inexperienced landlords might also benefit from such a resource, as they could learn 
about good practice and how to choose a letting agent. Landlords and letting agents 
who already act ethically would also potentially prosper as they would receive free 
advertising and gain a tangible benefit from their good working practices. 

                                            
46

 http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/content/council-and-democracy/councillors-and-
committees/letting-agents-scrutiny-review-panel-2011 
47

 Paul Bonett, Evidence to the panel 
48

 Andy Winter, Evidence to the panel 
49

 Paul Bonett, Evidence to the panel 

36



23 
 

RECOMMENDATION 15 – To develop ethical models for letting agents, estate 
agents and landlords, and create a website with a list of these ethical 
organisations. 

RECOMMENDATION 16 – To consider the development, and promote the 
uptake and benefits to landlords of registration to PRS accreditation schemes. 

A specific issue that has come to the fore recently is that of retaliatory or ‘revenge’ 
evictions: where tenants are evicted from their private sector housing properties 
because they complain about repairs or other issues. Retaliatory evictions are now 
illegal, but are difficult to prove as there is no need for a landlord to give a reason for 
evicting a tenant. However, there may be instances where it has been proven that a 
landlord has undertaken a retaliatory eviction. In such instances it could be argued 
that there is value in publicising the fact, in order to make more tenants aware that 
they ought not to fear eviction for complaining about repairs or other quality issues. 
There is also potential value in developing a register of landlords who have been 
deemed to have undertaken retaliatory evictions. This would enable tenants to 
identify at least some of the most unsuitable landlords. 

RECOMMENDATION 17 – To create a register of landlords who have been 
proven to have undertaken retaliatory evictions. 

 

Affordability 

The affordability of housing in Brighton & Hove presents a problem across all 
tenures: increasing property prices mean that fewer local people can compete with 
buyers from London or abroad; those who cannot afford to buy are forced to rent, 
which drives up private sector housing prices; this means in turn that people are 
obliged to rent smaller and smaller properties, with many people unable to afford 
anything at all in the city. Those who cannot afford to rent property in Brighton & 
Hove increasingly rent in adjoining, slightly cheaper areas. According to Geoff Raw 

‘The average income in the city was £25,000…The average rental was £843 for a 
one bedroom flat which would need an income of £44,000 to be ‘affordable’50 

The panel heard that the affordability of homes could also be affected by the short 
term length of tenancies in the private rented sector. Under the system of Assured 
Shorthold Tenancies, rental levels can be increased significantly over a relatively 
short period of time. For example: 

‘The first time a one bedroom flat was being rented out for between £600-£650 per 
month, but then it would rise up by 30% in the following two years to £800.’51  

A parallel situation has developed for people on Housing Benefit, with an increasing 
gap between Local Housing Allowance limits and actual rental costs, meaning that 

                                            
50

 Geoff Raw, Evidence to the panel  
51

 Paul Bonnet, Evidence to the panel 

37



24 
 

there are now almost no private sector housing family or even 1 bed homes in the 
city where rent is covered by Housing Benefit payments. Again, this has led to 
increasing numbers of people displaced to neighbouring areas with cheaper housing, 
such as Newhaven. 

A particular issue here concerns ‘keyworkers’ – often defined as people in vital public 
sector roles such as nursing and teaching, although the term can be used to 
describe a range of people providing services essential to keep a locality running, 
such as bus and taxi drivers or refuse collectors. Keyworkers typically need to live in 
or close to the area in which they work, often because they work long hours or on 
shifts. Brighton & Hove is experiencing increasing difficulties in recruiting particular 
groups of workers such as nurses and teachers. There is little doubt that this is partly 
due to the cost of housing in the city making it an unattractive option, particularly for 
public sector posts where pay is the same wherever you live. In recent months the 
city has also had to relax its rule requiring taxi drivers to be local residents. Andy 
Winter, Chief Executive of the Brighton Housing Trust told the panel that: 

‘Key workers were increasingly living in Worthing and Eastbourne and bearing the 
travel costs because they could not afford the rents in the city. Increasingly people 
over 30 were forced to live in shared accommodation as they could not afford to buy 
their homes. The rented sector was becoming less and less of an option for many 
people in Brighton & Hove.’52 

If property and rental prices continue to increase, so will difficulties in recruiting to 
these essential posts. This was emphasised by Chris Henry of the Home Sweet 
Home campaign who believed: 

‘There had been lots of changes with more families renting and a lot of people in 
their 40s still renting. This was a major shift. 15 years ago a teacher would be able to 
buy a home…this is no longer the case.’53 

 Organisations struggling to recruit are likely to employ more agency workers, 
increasing costs and impacting upon the quality of services. We may also see more 
targeted, large-scale, international recruitment from abroad if our hospitals and other 
major providers are unable to recruit locally.  

The problem is one faced by businesses as well as public sector service providers: if 
firms cannot readily recruit because of local housing costs, they are unlikely to 
choose to set up in Brighton & Hove.  

Meeting the challenges posed by these workforce problems is a major piece of work 
and one which is considerably broader than housing. In housing terms, the obvious 
solution is to develop more housing, both for sale and in private sector housing, 
which is affordable to local key workers. There is limited scope to do this, but one 
option is to designate a certain proportion of developments, or even entire 
developments, for key workers. Another option would be to explore the potential to 

                                            
52

 Andy Winter, Evidence to the panel  
53

 Chris Henry, Evidence to the panel 

38



25 
 

use social housing resources to house more key workers, although this would 
inevitably be at the expense of vulnerable people.  

Another option would be to recognise that the city may not be able to house 
increasing numbers of its key workers, and to work with neighbouring more 
affordable areas to ensure that they present an attractive prospect to key workers – 
for example, by improving regional public transport links so it becomes feasible for 
people, even those working shifts, to work in Brighton & Hove but to live outside the 
city. There are already a considerable number of people who work but do not live in 
Brighton & Hove, with recent years having seen significant dispersal to Worthing, 
Shoreham and other Sussex towns. This is not necessarily a negative thing, but if 
the regional housing and workforce market is becoming more and more integrated, 
which it clearly is, then this obviously needs to be reflected in planning for housing, 
travel and for over-arching workforce issues.  

The creation of the Greater Brighton economic area which includes the areas in 
West, Mid and East Sussex most strongly connected to the Brighton & Hove housing 
market provides an ideal opportunity for this type of conversation to take place. 

RECOMMENDATION 18 – To explore ways to increase the supply of private 
sector housing with rental costs that are affordable (e.g. for key workers in the 
city) and in line with representative household incomes in the city. 

 

Vulnerability 

Brighton & Hove has well-established private sector housing that is used by a wide 
range of people, from the very wealthy to the extremely vulnerable. As the availability 
of social housing has decreased over recent years (with Right to Buy Purchases 
exceeding new builds and Housing Associations increasingly opting to focus on 
housing less vulnerable people), so we have seen a significant increase in the 
proportion of vulnerable people housed in private sector housing. More recently still, 
vulnerable people and families eligible for housing assistance are increasingly being 
offered private sector housing properties outside the city, as there is neither spare 
social housing, nor spare in-city private sector housing that is covered by Housing 
Benefit. 

Evidence to the panel suggested that there was some reluctance on the part of some 
landlords to give tenancies to vulnerable people such as those on benefits or with 
mental health problems.54 One of the reasons for their reluctance, given by Mike 
Stimpson of the Southern Landlords Association, was that although landlords did 
provide housing for the homeless and less well off: 

‘If one was homeless for three months then secured accommodation, the landlord 
may find that there were up to six extra people that they had taken on as well.’55 

                                            
54

 Bill Randall, Evidence to the panel 
55

 Mike Stimpson, Evidence to the panel 

39



26 
 

Alistair Hill from Public Health explained to the panel that local research had found 
that: 

‘…people living in the private rented sector were less likely to report that they can 
heat their home adequately, feel they belong to the area, more likely to feel lonely 
and have a higher risk of being depressed.’56  

Supporting vulnerable people in social housing has several advantages. Firstly, 
social housing providers have historically had good reasons to understand and 
record their tenants’ vulnerability – in the case of councils because they are likely to 
be responsible for both housing and social care support. Private sector housing 
landlords have no obvious reason to collate or share information about vulnerability, 
and this means that social care and NHS services may be less likely to be aware of 
vulnerable people in private sector housing57, which could result in individuals 
receiving less timely care and support. 

Secondly, it is relatively easy to provide support to people in social housing, which is 
typically located in blocks or clusters making it possible for care professionals to visit 
several clients together. 

Thirdly, social housing providers have budgets to make adaptations to their 
properties and can ensure that adapted properties are rented to customers with 
particular access needs. It can be much more difficult to adapt private sector housing 
property for disability, and there is very little money available to do so. According to 
Cllr Bill Randall: 

‘The only mandatory money available to councils [for this] was Disabled Facilities 
Grants, which at around £1m per year here was not very much given the size of this 
sector. If a lift needed to be installed into a property it could take a significant chunk 
of this allocation.’ 58  

Fourthly, the thermal efficiency of properties can have a major contribution to health, 
especially for elderly or poorly people who cannot afford high energy bills. Social 
housing is generally insulated to a higher standard than private sector housing. Work 
was being carried out in the city under the Warm Homes Healthy People fund to 
intervene to help people heat their home and gain help with their fuel bills.59 

There is a real danger here that we have an increasingly significant number of 
vulnerable people, particularly frail elderly people, occupying poor quality private 
sector housing, perhaps in the form of bedsits in converted houses. These people 
are likely to have mobility problems but to live in un-adapted and potentially 
unadaptable flats; to be vulnerable to the cold, but to live in energy inefficient 
environments. This presents a challenge to local health and care commissioners, 
particularly as there is currently a great deal of pressure to support frail people in the 
community, avoiding unnecessary hospital admissions, via the Better Care Fund and 

                                            
56

 Alistair Hill, Evidence to the panel 
57

 Alistair Hill, Evidence to the panel 
58

 Cllr Bill Randall, Evidence to the panel 
59

 Alistair Hill, Evidence to the panel 

40



27 
 

related initiatives. 60The risk is that housing conditions in private sector housing 
impact upon the ability of health and care commissioners to better support frail 
people in the community. 

Again, this is an issue that is much broader than housing alone, and Brighton & Hove 
already has a good track record of integrated working between housing and public 
health. There clearly needs to be more such work in the near future, potentially 
including the possibility of NHS commissioners or providers funding some private 
sector housing adaptations for disability or greater thermal efficiency as a 
preventative measure to reduce hospital or residential care admissions. 

In housing terms, the obvious way of better supporting vulnerable people in private 
sector housing tenancies would be to relocate them into social housing tenancies 
where support can be more readily and economically provided. This is a difficult ask 
given the pressures on social housing in the city, but the potential costs to the local 
health and care system of supporting people in crisis are very significant. 

RECOMMENDATION 19 – To explore ways to increase the supply of affordable 
‘social housing’ for key workers and vulnerable people (i.e. older people living 
in private sector housing which is not suitable for them and not readily 
adaptable, and/or people with mental health conditions who might previously 
have been accommodated in social housing). 

Working Together 

It is clear that the ‘perfect storm’ of housing pressures that we are experiencing, and 
the finite supply of housing locally available across all tenures, requires everyone 
involved in providing housing, supporting vulnerable people, and planning for 
economic development to work closely together. Fortunately, this type of co-working 
has been in place for a number of years, particularly in terms of the local Strategic 
Housing Partnership (SHP).  The SHP includes representatives from Housing, Public 
Health, the Universities, the Southern Landlords’ Association and from the 
Community Housing Network, including Brighton Housing Trust. The future seems 
bound to require even more close integration, particularly with health and care 
commissioners and providers, and with private sector housing landlords. 

RECOMMENDATION 20 – To further foster joined-up working between city 
council departments (e.g. housing, public health) and other relevant 
organisations (e.g. Southern Landlords’ Association, CAB, Brighton Housing 
Trust, city universities). 

  

                                            
60

 Ibid 

41



28 
 

3 MINUTES FROM THE PRICATE SECTOR HOUSING SCRUTINY PANEL 
EVIDENCE-GATHERING MEETINGS 

 

WITNESSES 

 

Councillor Bill Randall (BR), Chair of Housing Committee 

 

3.1 BR told the panel that this sector represented much more that housing for 

students. It had seen significant growth between 2001-2011 (45% in his own 

ward) and now represented 35% of the city’s total housing stock in 2011. This 

tenure was important because it provided flexible housing and the majority 

was in good condition. The University of Sussex ‘Rate Your Landlord’ scheme 

figures supplied to the panel had found that 25% were rated by students as 

‘very good’, 50% as ‘middling’ and 25% ‘bad’.  

 

3.2 A significant share of private rented housing was in seafront wards and 

evidence from Public Health showed a reduced life expectancy of those living 

in old-fashioned bedsits rather than Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 

who tended to be older people. An example of the high density in this form of 

housing was 600 people per hectare living in Lansdowne Road. These homes 

tend to be in poor condition and 35% of the whole private rented sector did 

not meet the Decent Homes standard. This tenure also had a very high 

carbon footprint. 

 

3.3  Neighbourhoods had been changed by the growth of the private rented 

sector, as increasingly people could not afford owner occupation they turned 

to renting. More people were also moving out of the city.  

 

3.4 While the council had a positive relationship with many private sector 

landlords, BR believed that lettings agents did deservedly get a bad press. 

There was a need for a national registration scheme and controls on the 

charges the agencies levied. He did recognise that there were decent 

agencies such as Bonett’s Lettings Agents, but was concerned that anyone 

could set themselves up as a lettings agent. 

 

42



29 
 

3.5  Student housing was an increasingly important as the universities were worth 

£1bn to the city’s economy. The city also had the 4th highest business start-up 

rate and top if it was per capita. However these benefits were not being 

distributed to enable the average income households to buy or rent in the city.  

 

3.6 When asked by Professor Darren Smith (DS) whether there had been any 

changes to the bedsit phenomena in the last five years, BR told the panel that 

he suspected this type of housing had not increased. The focus had been on 

student housing, but there was a need to look at bedsit accommodation again 

as it housed a lot of people. 

 

3.7 Consultation was going to start on extending the Houses in Multiple 

Occupation (HMO) scheme to seven new wards including Central Hove and 

Brunswick & Adelaide. This decision had been informed by the mapping work 

done by the Fire Service.  

 

3.8 Martin Reid told the panel that their research on HMOs found that in East 

Brighton there were fewer bedsits than thought and more than expected in 

Central Brighton.  

 

Q:  There is a very long waiting list for social housing in the city. This 

means that vulnerable people who are non-priority are increasingly 

ending up in the private rented sector. How can the council offer 

assurance to these people? 

 

3.9 BR explained that Environmental Health Officers can work on enforcing 

improved housing conditions, but tenants can be worried about retaliation 

action from their landlords. The only mandatory money available to councils 

was Disabled Facilities Grants, which at around £1m per year here was not 

very much given the size of this sector. If a lift needed to be installed into a 

property it could take a significant chunk of this allocation. The top-up money 

which had been available in this area has been removed. The funds for owner 

occupiers and landlords to improve the energy efficiency of their homes has 

not worked as well as intended. The registration of HMOs had led to thermal 

improvements of the homes in that scheme.          

 

43



30 
 

3.10 There were no other grants available to improve conditions in the private 

rented sector. BR was concerned that many landlords were making a lot of 

money and were not putting money back into those communities.      

 

Q: Figures from Shelter show that there has been an increase of 5m people 

in poverty; from 2.2m in 2003 to 2014. A programme last night about the 

super-rich highlighted that more housing developments are being built 

by the very rich developers for the very rich to buy. If local authorities 

can only build a limited number of homes per year, what can they do to 

alleviate the problem? 

 

  3.11 BR told the panel that a guest on the Today programme had asserted that no-

one could live in London if they were earning less than £1m. In Brighton & 

Hove 40% of new homes were bought by people from outside the city. Where 

possible the council needed to provide housing in partnership. A programme 

was being developed to provide 220 new build homes which would act as a 

base to do more. The council needed to use the Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA) to build homes as it reduced the management and maintenance costs.  

 

3.12   There was a need to look at other ways to increase supply such as the debate 

about building on the fringe of the city, which he felt should be done through a 

city wide community land trust. If this was done through a co-op, then the 

council can nominate people in need to this housing and help the sons and 

daughters of those living in Brighton & Hove.  

 

Q:  Was the sector becoming gentrified and if so, was this displacing 

existing people? 

 

3.13 BR said there had been a huge hike in rents which put these homes out of the 

reach of many in the city. Employers in E. Brighton were now not tending to 

advertise jobs in East Brighton because of this. There was a need to join up 

these elements of the economy. For example, Tony Mernagh (CE of the 

Brighton & Hove Business Forum) would ask employers ‘where is the 

workforce?’ and ‘where will they live?’ So this gentrification could be 

restraining the economy of the city. 

 

44



31 
 

Q:  For research purposes, I have registered with a range of websites for 

private sector lettings. An average of 10 new lettings are posted a day, 

but today only three of them were less than £2,000 per month rent. 

These are not affordable rent levels. A concern is about the hidden 

vulnerable, such as those with mental health issues, who are seeking 

housing in the sector and may meet with a lack of understanding from 

landlords. How can such people access support? 

 

  3.14 BR thought there was a reluctance on the part of landlords to give tenancies 

to people on benefits or with mental health problems. It could be a 

recommendation of the panel to give landlords more advice about housing 

vulnerable people as 16% of households in the city include someone with 

disabilities. The council could help by providing land and also buying off plan 

to get deals to house people in need.  

 

3.15 Student housing played an important part and some large schemes were in 

the pipeline, which could mainly be afforded by better off PhD students. He 

thought that the University of Sussex should develop campuses across the 

region as there was only a finite amount of land in this city, like the University 

of Brighton campus in Eastbourne. 

 

3.16  These issues were being debated by the City Management Board. There was 

a feeling of the need to use all brownfield sites, but were opposed to 

increasing the density on existing council estates. 

 

Q: In light of increasing fuel poverty (12.2% in fuel poverty and 9.1m 

projected to be affected by this by 2016) is it an issue that a lot of the 

housing in the city was built before 1918? New builds are required to 

meet certain standards and so inhabitants have lower fuel bills. How can 

the council work with landlords to tackle the homes built before 1918? 

 

3.17  BR gave an example of a project undertaken in Love Walk, Southwark which 

externally cladded pre-1919 homes. However this scheme did have planning 

problems. It was addressing the problem that if you insulate inside very small 

rooms, you are further reducing the space available. The key problem was 

insufficient government incentives to carry out such work. Health and well-

being was affected by living in cold buildings. Some Health Authorities, such 

45



32 
 

as Devon & Cornwall, had spent money on insulating homes to help children 

with asthma in order to reduce the pressure these cases placed on the health 

service. It was positive to see improved working between Housing, Adult 

Social Care and Public Health and the case could be developed for more 

spending on the private rented sector to tackle health issues.  

 

Geoff Raw (GR), Executive Director of Environment, Development & Housing, 

BHCC      

 

3.18 GR explained that the private rented sector was a significant share of our 

stock and likely to grow as owner occupation became more difficult when 

people were unable to raise mortgages. Brighton & Hove was in a very 

positive economic position with a 10% increase in private sector jobs which 

was leading to an increased demand for accommodation. This demand was 

increasingly coming from single people and smaller households. He imagined 

their needs could be met by a growing private rented sector, but at the 

moment this sector was not providing this supply. It was very difficult to find 

accommodation in the private rented sector for larger households.  

 

3.19 The average income in the city was £25,000, although 50% earned less than 

this. The average rental was £843 for a one bedroom flat which would need 

an income of £44,000 to be ‘affordable’. Whereas the rent for a three bed 

house could be around £1,550 pcm which would need an income of £82,000 

to be affordable. So housing was either taking a much bigger share of   

household income or people were deciding to move out of the city which in 

turn would impact on the travel to work area.          

 

3.20 The universities were having a significant impact on the city, both as an 

employer and the demands of student housing which was expected to grow 

by 12,000. Only 6,000 additional homes can be identified, leaving another 

6,000 student households to look for housing in the private rented sector. 

Students often shared with each other and able to pay a premium rent, so 

may be able to afford higher rents than families. This has led to landlords 

offering housing to students rather families. The Greater Brighton Economic 

Board (GBEB) had commissioned some work to look at the state of the 

economy, the housing market and travel to work areas. This found that the by 

2020 the Greater Brighton area will grow by 800,000.  

 

46



33 
 

Q:  What can the council do to help this situation? 

 

3.21  Councils have a duty to co-operate and plan together. There is a market 

failure here and intervention was justified, because local authorities are able 

to bring together land and development opportunities such as Circus Street, 

or King Alfred where the council would be working with Standard Life to create 

new housing. The GBEB provided a great opportunity for co-operation to 

enable more sites to come forward for development. There was a need to 

work with other investors such as Registered Social Landlords and private 

investors to bring on new developments. While this was difficult, the local 

authority could play a vital role. Help was also needed from central 

government and the council was talking to the Department for Communities 

and Local Government (DCLG) about finding ways to work better on this 

issue. Planning was not the fundamental problem, but how to fund the 

developments. A carrot and stick approach was needed with landlords being 

encouraged to invest, rather than punishing them.  

 

3.22 There were opportunities for neighbourhood planning to look at the big 

changes in the area, including the significant demographic changes in the last 

five years like the increase in students in the Lewes Road corridor. This 

needed to be placed in a community context, e.g. the Local Action Teams 

(LATs), as well as the political context. Local authorities could make a 

difference but they needed to be bold. It would take between three to five 

years to fix these problems.  

 

Q: (i) What mechanisms are there to force private developers to develop a 

certain % of their homes for key workers? ii) Is there anything the 

council can do to encourage employers to look for workers who live in 

Brighton & Hove e.g. tackle a skills gap? iii) What support do university 

students get when seeking accommodation in the private rented sector?          

 

3.23 GR explained that the Housing Corporation used to have key worker funding 

which did not exist now but planning obligations meant that 40% of 

developments were expected to be affordable housing. However this was 

interpreted very flexibly and so RSLs tended to deliver this through shared 

ownership rather than rented housing, because it was more viable. Even 

when planning policies were in place, the economics of housing development 

are the primary consideration. So it is key to secure this kind of investment in 

the city.  

47



34 
 

 

3.24 Where Brighton & Hove City Council (BHCC) owns the land it could influence 

RSLs to encourage them to offer a different kind of tenancies. Only 500 

households were offered new lettings from BHCC each year, so they were 

only the most vulnerable households on the list. However the council could 

choose to let some of these homes to key workers. This could be done by 

either changing our allocations policy or investment model, but this would be a 

political choice.  

 

3.25  Other means to produce long term rentals for key workers could include joint 

ventures and establishing trusts. This is because if the council raises debt to 

develop then it needs to know that these properties would not be liable to 

Right to Buy. Universities and schools could also enter into similar 

arrangements to develop accommodation they need.  

 

3.26 BR told the panel that Hyde Housing were building three schemes, which 

included homes for outright sale and shared ownership, but none of the 

properties were for rent. The shortage of affordable homes was shown by the 

decision to extend the taxi driver living limit as so many drivers now live 

outside the city. 

 

3.27 GR explained that employers wanted a good fit between the employees they 

choose and the skills needed. There were sectors of the economy, e.g. 

tourism, which attracted relatively low wages. The jobs market needed to be 

flexible and adapt if there was a skills gap. We needed to give those who 

grow up in the city a chance, not just in terms of housing them but offering 

them training and education to give them a higher level of skills to meet the 

employment gaps. In Brighton & Hove there was a surplus of over educated 

people who were tending to take the jobs away. With 50% of the population 

now entering higher education, there was a need to direct these people to the 

newer kinds of jobs in the market. The council also needed strong policies to 

deal with under occupation, especially when those tenants in larger homes 

were struggling to pay the rent. There was also the opportunity to encourage 

under-occupiers in the private rented sector.  

 

Martin Reid, Head of Private Sector Housing, BHCC 

 

48



35 
 

3.28 Martin Reid (MR) explained that the Draft Housing Strategy 2015 set five 

overarching themes for the whole city covering the growth of the private 

rented sector, the shortage of affordable family homes and increasing 

demand for student accommodation. The majority of private landlords were 

good and the booming housing market was good for the sector. Some 

seaside homes in neighbouring areas were worsening in conditions as the 

sector reduced in those locations.  

 

3.29  There were issues of regulation and investment in the private rented sector, 

which was growing at the expense of owner occupation (especially accessible 

owner occupation). 2011 figures showed that owner occupation decreased 

while the private rented sector increased. Landlords were competing more 

successfully than first time buyers to purchase properties. For example in 

Lewes Road, buy to let landlords were completing with first time buyers and 

increasing numbers of purchases off plan are by these landlords.  

 

3.30  The challenges were to both create a new supply of housing and a supply of 

housing for rent partly to offset this loss of family homes for owner occupation. 

 

3.31 A big gap in the Housing Strategy was how to tackle the poorer housing 

conditions and carbon emissions in the private rented sector. Problems arose 

because of the age of the stock (in wards such as Central Hove, Regency and 

Brunswick & Adelaide) and also that the council has lost its ability to invest in 

the renewal of private rented stock using opportunities such as the Green 

Deal. Management standards in this tenure was also an issue in the five 

wards where the HMO licensing scheme had been introduced and was one of 

the reasons why the council was consulting on extending the scheme to 

another seven wards. 

 

3.32 LB Newham, and other authorities, had gone further by introducing a selective 

licensing scheme for all private sector landlords in a specified area. However 

this needed a high level of evidence and consultation. BHCC had not reached 

this yet, but members would need to be confident about introducing such a 

scheme before planning to do so.  

 

49



36 
 

3.33 The Montague Review61 which looked at housing supply found that there was 

significant insecurity in this tenure, especially if you have children and this 

tenure was providing 30% of the supply of housing. If institutional investment 

into the private rented sector could be encouraged which was looking at a 30 

year return on its investment, then this could lead to a more stable sector 

which more closely resembled European models. So one needed to look at 

how local authorities could encourage longer term lettings.  

 

3.34 Public Health were concerned that with a more transient population how one 

could identify vulnerable people in the private rented sector and tackle issues 

such as fuel poverty. They were trying to find ways such as GP referrals to 

find ways to target these people in need for help. A very high level of 

homeless acceptances (30%) were from the private rented sector, even 

though BHCC was carrying out very high levels of preventative work.  

 

3.35 Another issue was community resilience in the areas where there were high 

concentrations of students. For example LATs had identified concerns about 

rubbish and the transient nature of the population.  

 

3.36 Social Care colleagues had expressed concern over their ability to retain key 

workers in the city, even though they were on the living wage. This meant that 

travel to work areas were being stretched by the reduction in owner 

occupation. If this was accompanied by reducing family support it could 

increase the vulnerability of households in the city. They were looking to 

increase long term investment in the sector as well as reduce the turnover of 

tenancies, reduce the number of retaliatory evictions and increase well-being. 

 

Q:  How deliverable is it to increase the supply of private rented housing? 

How can one provide more affordable rents when there are so few 

enforcement tools relating to rent levels? 

 

3.37 MR explained that there were no enforcement powers in relation to rent levels, 

so it could only be done by increasing the supply of accommodation. More 

                                            
61

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15547/montague_revie
w.pdf 
 

50



37 
 

work needed to be done across the Greater Brighton area to look at how to 

increase this supply. 

 

3.38 BR told the panel that a growing number of groups were campaigning for rent 

stabilisation in the city, for rents to be set for 5-10 years. Initially these rents 

could be set by the market and then the only increase come from inflation, 

with a cap set on these rents. The Montague review and a related event found 

that investors would also welcome this stability. For example in Halifax the 

situation was reversed where the private rented sector was cheaper than 

council housing.  

 

3.39 PMC observed that Germany has seen this stabilisation and has a strong 

economy. There was a need for a degree of regulation and intervention to 

temper the market. One would not want to discourage potential investors in 

the sector, but the tools were needed to ensure affordable rents which would 

help us retain our place in the economy. CW was concerned that the city was 

in danger of creating split communities with both gentrification and ghettos. 

 

Alistair Hill (AH), Public Health Consultant, BHCC 

        

3.40 AH explained that public health were concerned by the wider determinants of 

health such as education and housing, such as the direct and indirect effects 

of issues such as overcrowding, indoor pollution, mould and damp. Poor 

housing had an impact on a range of issues such as respiratory conditions, 

cardiovascular disease, mental health and levels of accidents which then 

increase the use of unplanned health care.  

 

3.41  In the city there were approximately 135 excess winter deaths annually, which 

was average for the UK but UK rates were high compared to other European 

countries. Indirect effects of housing could also include poorer child 

development in overcrowded conditions and greater concerns related to 

community safety in denser areas. Wider impacts on society include 

increased time off sick from work and education, and cost to health and social 

care. Vulnerable groups such as children and older people were most likely to 

be affected by these unequal conditions.    

 

51



38 
 

3.42 The private rented sector was very diverse and had a younger than average 

population. It was quite difficult to unpick impact of housing effects from health 

data but was an important issue for public health. There were a lot of people 

in this sector who had high levels of need, including people who have been 

homeless (eviction from this sector being the biggest reason for 

homelessness). The high levels of non-decency in the private rented sector 

and lack of security of tenure also  have implications for health. Approximately 

12% of older people were living in the city’s private rented housing, which was 

higher than average.  

 

3.43 Tenure was not routinely collected when gathering health service data, 

however local research conducted by Public Health had found that people 

living in the private rented sector were less likely to report that they can heat 

their home adequately, feel they belonged to the area, more likely to feel 

lonely and have a higher risk of being depressed. Overall data has shown that 

physical health can be better in those living in the private rented sector, but 

this is related to the young average age of people in the sector.     

 

3.44 It was vital to see the closer working of health and housing related services 

and there was a good local track record in this area. There were strong links 

between Public Health and the Planning and Private Sector Housing teams, 

such as the energy efficiency work and adaptations. This close working was 

also being done on a strategic level to develop the Housing Strategy. They 

were also carrying out specific work under the Warm Homes Healthy People 

Fund which provided public health money to intervene to help people heat 

their home and obtain financial help with their fuel bills.  

 

3.45 In relation to increasing GP referrals to housing there was an opportunity to 

broaden this work under the Better Care Initiatives to identify those most at 

risk to reduce the risk of hospital admissions. Public Health and Housing were 

collaborating with GPs and the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on a 

pilot as part of the Better Care approach to carry out health planning in the 

round to tackle fuel poverty and other housing issues. Casework support 

would be offered to individuals at risk in relation to budgeting, tackling food 

poverty and income maximisation. There was a need to ensure that people in 

the private rented sector took up this scheme. While this was a finite pilot, if it 

could be shown to be an effective project that had impact then there could be 

increased collaboration with the NHS. 

 

52



39 
 

Q: Are there examples of best practice elsewhere? 

 

3.46 AH told the panel that there had been a big push in Liverpool. Officers 

including Environmental Health Officers visited all private rented homes and 

as a result millions of pounds had been invested in the sector. In Oldham 

there had been targeted joint work with the council, RSLs and the NHS to look 

at improving the energy efficiency of RSL stock for older people. The 

challenge in the private rented sector was how to target those in need and 

demonstrate that the initiative had had an impact.  

 

Q:  If the private rented sector is the single largest reason for homelessness, 

then should there be a push to do more work with landlords to prevent 

homelessness and reduce the associated costs? 

 

3.47 AH explained that the Housing Strategy documents showed that the most 

cited reason for homelessness was eviction from the private sector. MR 

explained that the service was increasing its level of work it did with landlords 

to support them and their vulnerable tenants. The panel could find out more 

about the effect of this from the Strategic Housing Partnership and the 

Southern Landlords Association. One of the benefits of HMO licensing was 

that it reduced the number of retaliatory evictions. It enabled the local 

authority to pro-actively tackle issues rather than reactive. 

 

3.48 AH thought there was potential to increase the joint working across the health 

service, social care and housing in tackling this issue. Maintaining good health 

and wellbeing and referring to appropriate housing services can help to stop 

them losing their home again. This in turn would improve their health and 

reduce the need for health and social care.        

 

Q:  Given the cumulative impact of this issue should Public Health be added 

to the list of internal consultees about Planning? The history of Planning 

shows how the slums of the East End had such an impact on health. 

Was there a need to future proof buildings that are developed in order to 

help people’s health?  

 

53



40 
 

3.49 AH told the panel that BHCC was now a public health organisation and this 

should run through all the strands of its work. An example was the Health 

Impact Assessments for large developments which were included in the City 

Plan process. These included looking at mitigating the negative impacts of 

developments, but could look at positive ways for new developments to 

improve health. 

 

3.50 PMC gave a small example of the Planning Advisory Note on food growth 

which recognised the health benefits of growing one’s own food. So would like 

to see Public Health and the Planning Service working much closer together. 

 

3.51 AH explained that housing tenure was not routinely collected in health data 

sets, for example to enable one to look at whether there are higher hospital 

admissions in older people living in the private rented sector. Collecting more 

data on the take up of a service by tenure could be a really useful addition.  

 

Rob Fraser (RF), Policy and Major Projects Manager, BHCC 

 

3.52   RF told the panel that Planning was a blunt instrument and needed to be 

viewed in the context of a general trend of deregulation. Planning was largely 

tenure blind. There was a shortfall between the objectively assessed need for 

housing in the city and the ability to develop the capacity in the city. While it 

was calculated that between 20,000 to 24,000 homes were needed in the next 

few years in the city, there was only the capacity to provide around 13,200. 

This would lead to a shortfall of nearly 50% in homes needed. Therefore the 

options were either to look to build at higher density in the city centre or 

outside the city through co-operation with adjoining authorities.  

 

3.53  RF said that he shared the panel’s concern about the affordability gap but 

believed that this would be not be solved by only building more homes. 

People also needed high enough wages so they could pay their rent. 

Consequently the City Plan also protected sites for employment uses. 

Planning because it was tenure blind could only become involved when there 

was also a change of use, such as that of a family home being turned into an 

HMO.  

 

54



41 
 

3.54  The council did not currently have a policy to identify key workers for 

preferential treatment and thought that this could only be done through its 

allocations policy.  

 

Q:  Does this 50% shortfall take into account the growing need for student 

accommodation? 

 

3.55 RF explained that student accommodation was only taken into account if a 

new development was to free up homes for owner occupied general housing. 

We were not near this situation and could not see us getting to a position 

where there was an excess of student housing leading to students moving 

from rented shared housing into purpose built accommodation.  

 

Q:  In Planning is there a trend of more people extending their homes to fit 

their family in? 

 

3.56 RF said that there was no data to show that there was an increase in 

households trying to squeeze more out of their existing accommodation. 

There were a lot of historical buildings in the city and the typical cycle was that 

they went from single use to flats then HMOs then fall into disrepair and are 

turned back into single homes and then back into HMOs. In some areas such 

as Brunswick this cycle has happened a number of times. RF offered to ask 

colleagues if they had any data on the issue of numbers of applications for 

homes to be extended.        

 

Q: in light of deregulation are there any examples of local authorities which 

have made a conscious decision to directly intervene in the market to 

make developers build affordable rents? 

 

3.57 RF told the panel that ‘affordable’ in Planning terms was a very crude 

definition. If a development scheme had sufficient shared ownership or 80% 

market rent homes in the project, then it would be meeting the affordability 

criteria of national policy. On the urban fringe there was a significant 

percentage of land which belonged to BHCC and if one could put this in the 

hands of an organisation such as a Community Land Trust, then this could 

55



42 
 

help us increase the supply of genuinely affordable housing. Success was 

dependent upon aligning corporate policy, housing and planning policy.  

 

Q: Would this also be true of our policies in relation to brownfield sites? 

 

 3.58 RF explained that the council had been working on developing brownfield 

sites for much longer, but was not a significant player. Where we did have a 

role, viability was a big issue and that was where affordability could suffer. 

 

Q: If 97% of potential developments could be on brownfield sites and the 

government wants to remove carbon restrictions, would there be any 

room for work in Part Two of the City Plan to reassert that the market 

should not always me king and make sure that the private rented sector 

is catered for in developments? 

   

3.59 RF explained that there was currently a lack of knowledge about how the 

market was working which was being shown by the duty to co-operate. The 

regional and national pressures on the housing market were not fully 

understood by local authorities. Evidence was needed that showed that 

building in the city could help meet the housing requirements of the city. This 

could lead to changes in Planning policy. National Parks do have policies 

about planning for existing families in their areas. So more work was needed 

to understand the market, including collecting data. For example information 

from estate agents suggests that 60% of new housing enquiries came from 

outside the city, 30% of which were from international sources.  

 

Q:  In relation to the 1 Hove Park scheme by Hyde, it was reported that an 

investor from Qatar wanted to buy the whole top floor of the 

development. This would not produce a trickle-down effect, so did we 

foresee that Brighton & Hove would be likely to follow the trends in 

London? Could we do anything to intervene in the market? 

 

3.60 RF told the panel he could not think of a means to intervene currently. He 

thought that Part 2 of the City Plan might provide some opposition to these 

trends, but no data as yet was being gathered by partners in the Local 

Economic Partnership (LEP) or through joint work under the Duty to Co-

56



43 
 

operate that would provide the required evidence base. There was a need to 

understand how the markets were working and how to alleviate the pressures 

which were being reported. He was aware that London was keen to export its 

high levels of housing need. 

 

Q:  What about Article 4 Directions? 

 

3.61 RF explained that there were Article 4 Directions on HMOs in the same 5 

wards as the extended licensing scheme for smaller HMOs. The issue again 

was how to gather data which showed whether Article 4 should, or should not, 

apply. There was no single source of information and data gathering has been 

cyclical. Planning had been mapping the data provided by Martin Reid’s team 

and checking this against information on council tax and student exemption. 

 

3.62 There was limited opportunity for new Article 4 directions to pre-empt 

expansion of areas dominated by HMOs. Evidence was needed to create, or 

extend, an Article 4 Direction or it can be modified or cancelled by the 

Secretary of State. Without data it was difficult to present a case for an Article 

4 Direction. In five wards there was clear evidence, but it may be harder to 

build a case for the rest of the city.  

 

Q: How many times has Article 4 been used to resist further HMOs? 

 

3.63 RF told the panel that it had been used but did not know on how many 

occasions the Article 4 policy had been triggered in determining applications.  

 

3.64 BR told the panel that one of the biggest bones of contention for residents was 

that Article 4 was not being used enough by the council to stop increasing 

numbers of HMOs. Particularly as the council had received 2,074 applications 

for HMOs to be licensed in those 5 wards. MR confirmed that of these 

applications, 1,826 had been given a full license to date. BR felt that the 

council had been less successful in curbing the growth of new HMOs and 

there was a need to use this power in areas where the market for HMOs was 

growing such as Hollingdean. 

 

57



44 
 

3.65 RF promised to supply the panel with figures on how many occasions the 

Article 4 policy had been triggered. He told the panel that it did take time to 

enforce unauthorised HMO’s because it was a slow process and bound by 

legal requirements. A case could take a year to follow up, including getting the 

evidence and taking enforcement action. There was also the need to 

demonstrate we are reasonable. He explained that a lot of small HMOs had 

come into effect before we had Article 4. The council had only had Article 4 in 

place since April 2013.  

 

Gary Waller (GW) and Mike Stimpson (MS) of the Southern Landlords 

Association  

 

8.1 GW began his presentation by explaining that the Southern Landlords 

Association (SLA) have 1,000 members (600 of them in Brighton & Hove) with 

100s of properties and 1,000s of tenants. GW had been a landlord for over 30 

years with properties primarily in the Elm Grove/Lewes Road corridor housing 32 

students and young people. Managing that number of properties was 

increasingly time consuming.  

8.2  The licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) have had a significant 

impact on him and cost £25,000 e.g. to fit locks, fire doors and extend smoke alarms 

at a cost of £5k per property. Now all his properties were licensed. However this did 

make it more difficult to turn such properties back into family homes.  

 

8.3 Article 4 has stopped conversions in that area for student accommodation, 

although that had been where landlords had got the maximum yield. This had 

probably led to such developments happening in other areas of the city.  There 

was now a sales premium on licensed properties which put an extra £30,000-

40,000 on their price when buying.  

 

8.4 He thought there were increasing pressures on landlords such as increasing 

numbers of young tenants and a higher turnover of tenants with the majority 

moving on after two years. This was because it is an expensive city and there 

were not the jobs to match housing costs. It was also harder because of the 

registration, increased paperwork and maintaining bad debts. The Mortgage 

Market Review (MMR) in April had let to tighter lending criteria, making it harder 

to extend ones portfolio. However the property market moved in cycles, so it 

would be likely to become easier at another time. The requirements of licensing 

58



45 
 

e.g. layout and room size, has made it harder to find a suitable property. There 

were also political risks such as would politicians introduce rent controls?      

 

8.5 There was a shortage in the market of single units which was making it relatively 

expensive for single people to live in the city. Some were Band A rated for 

council tax which made it more expensive too.  

 

8.6 Issues that the SLA wished to discuss included Planning and whether the target 

to house an additional 18,000 was realistic? They were concerned about the 

willingness of the Planning service to work with landlords to see how to address 

these needs. There were a lot of properties which could be converted to give 

people enough space to live in. However in their experience the Planning 

department seemed aloof and not keen to work with landlords and other 

departments in the council.  

 

8.7 Improving the quality of accommodation came at a cost, so installing new 

technology such as circuit breakers also brought increased maintenance costs, 

all of which will lead to higher rent levels. Landlords sometimes experienced 

more difficulties in collecting rent from poorer tenants and sometimes there are 

additional issues such as drug use. In such cases the landlords do often become 

involved and need to help these more vulnerable tenants. The SLA also 

wondered whether the use of Article 4 would be widened across the city? 

 

8.8 The SLA also wondered what benefits the landlords got in return for spending 

the money on licensing? They also had limited power to resolve issues relating 

to Anti-Social behaviour of tenants, other than go round and read the riot act to 

the tenants. They would like something back from the council in terms of more 

noise patrol services or increased rubbish collections.  

 

8.9 Student new builds did provide the best returns for landlords such as the Co-op 

building on London Road and Circus Street. This was because it was possible to 

maximise the number of beds and not supply as many services. However they 

were not sure how much this kind of accommodation benefited the city and was 

expensive for students. It would be used to house new students rather than 

freeing up accommodation for families. Such homes would not be turned back 

into four bedroom family houses.  

 

59



46 
 

8.10 The SLA felt that there was not a need for greater regulation but the council 

needed to enforce the powers they already had.  

 

Q: Were landlords selling up or increasing their portfolios? 

 

8.11GW told the panel that it seemed that people were holding onto their portfolios 

due to Capital Gains Tax and the other options available to invest the money. 

Like in 2008 landlords were tending to hang on as it was a low interest market, 

as properties still provided a good return on the investment. 

 

Q: Work between the Private Sector Team and the Planning Service has found 

that there are increasing levels of people living in poverty and 12% of 

people in the city’s private rented sector are in fuel poverty. What 

responsibility do you feel as landlords to these people? 

 

8.12 GW explained that young people on the minimum wage found it difficult to get 

good jobs that paid above that level. The city had a significant tourist trade which 

was a low paying industry. He had spent all his working life commuting to 

London but Brighton & Hove was an expensive place to live. He had installed 

double glazing and loft insulation to reduce fuel poverty and the licensing 

regulations had required 270m of loft insulation. Most of his young tenants were 

on minimum wage and zero hours contracts which meant there were large areas 

of poverty.  

 

8.13 MS told the panel that he had been a landlord for 50 years and had found it 

much easier to let to those who were economically well-off. He was very 

concerned about the Planning department and whether some of their policies 

were outdated e.g. relating to self-containment and non self-containment. When 

he dealt with Adur, Petersfield and Worthing they did not seem to have the same 

restrictive policies and so it was possible to consider supplying 100 units. In his 

experience the Planning Service had a culture of its own, would refuse projects it 

did not like and not compromise on developments. Their drive to get the highest 

quality would mean that developments became unaffordable which was not the 

same as with other local authorities. In their experience the Planning Department 

did not participate in joint work unlike our Housing Department.  

 

60



47 
 

8.14 Landlords provided accommodation to the homeless and the economically 

poor. If one was homeless for three months then secured accommodation, the 

landlord may find that there were up to six extra people that they had taken on 

as well. He felt that the Planning Department could do even more to help those 

who provide a significant share of housing in the city.   

 

8.15 MS wondered whether student blocks, such as those on London Road, were 

affordable at rents of £145-200 per week? All developers could supply 

accommodation at that level, so why don’t these developers have to provide 

affordable housing? If private sector landlords were going to provide housing for 

the homeless then they needed to be able to provide what they know was 

needed rather than what the Planning Department thought was needed.  

 

Q: Could you give some examples of projects which have not been given 

planning permission? 

 

   8.16 MS had purchased a redundant church off Elm Grove for which he had been 

applying for planning permission of the past 25 years. For 9 years there had 

been a campaign, aided by councillors to object to the project, and so the 

property was still empty after 25 years. This had involved a strong appeal. 

Brighton Housing Trust (BHT) had talked to the council about this scheme as 

nominations would have been given to BHT for eight single units and a family 

unit.  

 

8.17 Another scheme involved a one bedroom unit without a bathroom where 

permission was sought to turn it into a three bedroom maisonette. This case had 

been refused and went to appeal. An affordable unit had been lost in Kemptown 

near the hospital due to concerns about whether the Velux window would look 

odd.  

 

8.18 There was land in Portslade where planners after 20 years had decided that 

some residential use could happen there. But because of the insistence on a 

certain % for open space, even though it was opposite Natal Park, He was 

concerned that open space was a compulsory component regardless of where it 

was needed.  

 

61



48 
 

Tim Nicholls (TN), Head of Regulatory Services, BHCC 

 

8.19 TN explained that his staff were responsible for investigating noise and 

nuisance and provided the panel with performance data in this area. The service 

did not look at the geography of domestic noise, just for licensed premises such 

as pubs and clubs (because it could be used as an evidence base for licensing 

policy). The service could provide a map of domestic properties and he thought 

that of the 3,000 noise complaints the majority would be in city centre wards and 

Hanover, rather than outer areas such as Rottingdean.  

 

8.20 The number of noise complaints had peaked at 3,300 and were now reducing 

but this was alongside a reduction in the noise nuisance service. This was a 

gateway service and so it was felt that there were a reducing number of 

customers who did not tend to complain as much any more, as the service 

reduced. When looking at issues relating to noise offers were not collecting data 

relating to tenure. Figures showed  there were 5,000 complaints about pollution 

and nuisance including drains, refuse and air quality.  

 

8.21 A number of the Local Area Teams (LATs) were very concerned about noise 

such as Hanover, Hollingdean and Bevendean. Whereas the Patcham LAT was 

more concerned about flooding and St James and Rottingdean LATs had 

become experts in air quality. Compared to the central Brighton & Hove LATs, 

such West Hill, who were concerned with licensing issues.  

 

8.22 He believed that there was not so much the need for new regulation, but to 

enforce the existing powers and ensure that we have sufficient resources to do 

this. Their service had been reduced and the 2015/16 budget will reduce it by 

11% and a large percentage of the resources were taken from the noise patrol. 

The Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 provides opportunities for 

EHOs to work with police on ASB to provide more joined up working at a lower 

cost. However he did wonder whether a problem shared was a problem halved? 

 

8.23 TN considered that private rented sector licensing provided a choice to move 

the regulatory burden from the general fund to the landlord sector.  

 

62



49 
 

Q: In relation to domestic figures, how was it known that only 9 complaints 

had been made in student housing? 

 

8.24 TN explained that it was due to the vagaries of how the data was recorded. Out 

of the 3,000 noise complaints, the majority of them related to music and parties 

and a reducing number. Customer surveys had found a high level of satisfaction 

with the noise patrol, in relation to factors such as politeness, but would always 

ask for more staff who worked later. Around 100 noise abatement notices and 

100 night time noise offence warning notices were served each year, of which a 

few would result in  fixed penalties and 10 cases ended up in prosecution for 

noise. These figures had remained reasonably static for the last 10 years. 

 

Q: If the figures were not completely accurate but suggest that the majority of 

noise complaints come from single homes, does this mean there is a myth 

about noisy students? There seemed to be misunderstandings around the 

ASB Act and whether it could be the solution to these issues?  

 

8.25 TN agreed that there was a myth around students. From the front end nuisance 

work he was involved with, students had never struck him as a key source of 

such problems. In the city certain challenges were provided by organisations 

such as BIMM (Brighton Music College) but they had developed a good 

professional relationship with them and were able to help this organisation 

operate in a congested city centre. 

 

8.26 TN did not yet feel an expert on the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing 

Act 2014. He recommended undertaking a joint service with police which would 

mean coherent enforcement and avoid duplication. This would reduce costs and 

improve services. Closure powers (as used in Licensing Act) were no longer 

limited to licensed premises but could not be used in domestic homes.  

 

Q: This data seems to provide a partial snapshot of complaints, does it capture 

a noise complaint if it is dealt with by the university? 

 

8.27 When doing the Friday or Saturday night shift of the noise patrol, the 

complainant would be visited. The response of the service may be to do nothing 

or serve a warning notice. At that point the officers would not know the nature of 

63



50 
 

the occupants causing the noise. Only if the casework progresses then the 

tenure, university and other factors would be investigated. If the case was known 

to involve a student then their university would be contacted and the welfare 

officers informed. This has been found to be an effective way of dealing with 

problems. 

 

Q: There seems to be linkages with Public Health, Adult Social Care and 

Housing.  Do you think your data set could be changed in the future to 

record characteristics, such as tenure, to help these links?    

   

8.28 TN confirmed that it would be easy to add a question about tenure in the noise 

investigation process and then the Public Health intelligence team could analyse 

that data. 

 

Andy Winters (AW), Chief Executive of Brighton Housing Trust  

 

8.29 AW thought that there was not a single private rented sector but three different 

kinds of landlords: 

 

a. Professional landlords: They regarded this role as a long term business and look to establish 

a long term relationship with their tenants of 5, 10 or 15 years. Their key concern was 

stability rather than rent increases. 

b. Accidental landlords: They may take on this role if not able to sell a property and so take on 

the responsibility of becoming a landlord. It is borne out of having surplus property and 

often they do not understand what it entails. They are prone to making mistakes and will see 

their return on a month-by-month basis and not see the need to reinvest in the property. 

c. Quick buck landlords: They thrive on rapid turnover of tenancies and use this as an 

opportunity to increase rents. They were not interested in investing in their properties and 

gave landlords a bad name.  

             

8.30 The focus tended to be on the quick buck landlords, which was unfair on the 

majority of landlords who were the ones that AW wanted to focus on. A one size 

fits all approach would not be appropriate for the sector, for example standard 

licensing might achieve some things but could come at a large cost. For this 

reason, there was a danger of overregulation.  

 

64



51 
 

8.31 He believed that the council needed to seek the co-operation of landlords and 

find out what were their aims and objectives to develop shared objectives. 

Where landlords resisted this co-operation then enforcement was needed, either 

gentle or muscular (such as prosecution) depending upon the issue. The 

education of landlords was a key element in this. His advice centre helped 

people deal with the issues caused by ‘quick buck’ landlords who on rare 

occasions may need to be taken to court.  

 

Q: Has the ratio of different kinds of landlords changed in the city? 

 

8.32 AW thought that the numbers of both ‘accidental’ and ‘quick buck’ landlords had 

changed, with the latter being the biggest cause for concern.  

 

Q: How do we reach the ‘quick buck’ landlord? 

 

8.33 AW explained that they had an adversarial relationship with them, for example if 

their tenants came to the advice service with issues such as repair needs and 

revenge evictions. There was a need for joint intelligence to identify these 

landlords. He thought that Shelter had a register of rogue landlords. Brighton 

Housing Trust (BHT) had prosecuted such a landlord in Hastings. There were 

some quality marks such as if the landlord was a member of the Southern 

Landlords Association (SLA). Joining such an organisation demonstrated that 

the landlord was of the mind set to want to share best practice and make a 

success of their business.  

 

   Q: With increasing numbers of vulnerable and poorer people entering the 

sector, are they being driven to seek housing from the poorer quality 

landlord? 

 

8.34 AW said that BHT was still encouraging tenants to use good landlords. 

However if tenants were referred from BHT to landlords they could be perceived 

as having wider problems, such as those with drugs. They did still approach 

some landlords and ask for help, but this was based on Service Level 

Agreements. Usually their starting point was to ask tenants what they thought 

would make a good tenancy, such as producing a deposit, to make professional 

landlords more likely to take them on as tenants. The interests of tenants and 

65



52 
 

landlords were usually the same, long tenancies, co-operation and avoiding anti-

social behaviour.  

 

Q: In your experience, do landlords tend to want to avoid the adversarial 

approach? Would they rather seek eviction than access support? 

 

 8.35 AW thought that the majority of landlords don’t want conflict and if a tenancy 

was to break down it was felt to be a joint failure. Good landlords in all sectors 

want to avoid an eviction, partly because it was associated with high costs. 

 

Q: Living in the private rented sector costs an average of £840 per calendar 

month (pcm), but given the welfare reforms and fuel poverty there appears 

to be a ‘perfect storm’ happening in the private rented sector. What could 

be an effective structure to resolve this? 

 

8.36 AW believed in rent caps, although where the level sits was debateable. But 

when rents were at £840pcm it was a landlords’ market. Most landlords were 

trying to get a reasonable return, but caps require national legislation as these 

rents were becoming completely unaffordable due to factors such as heating 

costs. Electricity was very expensive and proving to be a breaking point for 

households and people were becoming completely priced out of the market.  

 

8.37 Key workers were increasingly living in Worthing and Eastbourne and bearing 

the travel costs because they could not afford the rents in this city. Increasingly 

people over 30 were being forced to live in shared accommodation as they could 

not afford to buy their homes. The private rented sector was becoming less and 

less of an option for many people in Brighton & Hove.  

 

Q: An example of a country which has rent caps and economic growth had not 

been halted was Germany. So what local and national actions could be 

taken in this area? 

 

8.38 AW thought that locally the local authority could intervene in the market to 

increase supply. There was a need to look at which Registered Social Landlords 

(RSLs) they were partnering with to see what was passing for social housing, for 

66



53 
 

example was shared housing or accommodation or outright sale? He believed 

that the council should work with more community based organised 

organisations to deliver social housing. For example, Richardson Yard where 36 

units were being brought back into use with no capital subsidy in partnership with 

a private developer and BHT.  

 

8.39 He wondered why officers in Sussex based local authorities did not seem as 

interested in seeking out schemes, compared to London based authorities. 

Increasing the supply by means such as these schemes would be a way of 

intervening in the market. BHCC had a number of prestige sites to develop and it 

tended to work with big developers on these, rather than with community 

organisations. 

 

8.40 GW and MS explained that they typically charged £390 per room compared to 

£700 in London and £320 in Worthing. As a county we had enough housing but 

everybody still wants to live in the South East. It was based purely on supply and 

demand. Some of their properties were still living with rent caps from the 1915. 

There was not enough accommodation in South East England so there was a 

need to both fix supply and build 000s of more units. However there was a lot of 

NIMBYism or the alternative was to try and spread out these developments 

across the country. 

 

Q: Given the population movements, so we need a regional perspective to 

understand a regional housing market? 

 

8.41 AW thought we needed the perspective of a wider region that included areas 

such as Lancing and Worthing. For example to look at the people commuting 

from Eastbourne back into Brighton & Hove. 73% of people buying homes in the 

city now have a current address in London, so there was the need to understand 

a much larger area. If we are to build several hundred homes, then let’s build the 

right housing. With access you can control who build the properties, such as 

social community based housing with which one can have land lease 

arrangements that bypass the Right to Buy (RTB). For example to build a two 

bedroom house would cost £40,000 minus the land costs and then BHCC could 

have the nomination rights.  

 

67



54 
 

8.42 MS told the panel that he had produced a paper on his rent levels for the 

Housing Strategy. Out of 450 tenants there were only 5 one bedroom rental units 

which were at the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) level and no studio units. He 

tended to obtain his tenants by recommendation and the majority of rents had 

not gone up in the last five years. Shared accommodation was also where one 

could not meet LHA levels, with a £82-85 per week charge this still needed a top 

up from the tenant of £4-6 per week. There were set ups where the landlord still 

pay the council tax charges, central heating, water rates and cleaning services.  

 

8.43 If a landlord was to buy in Brighton & Hove now they could not make a profit. So 

increasingly landlords were buying up properties in Newhaven, Worthing and 

Shoreham. Although Hasting property prices were good there was felt to be a 

poorer quality of tenants.        

 

8.44 The expectations of the unemployed (who tended to expect self-contained 

accommodation) could differ from the employed who were not bothered about 

this. He was concerned about offering contained accommodation to employed 

people in case they fell out of employment.  

 

Paul Bonett (PB), Managing Director, Bonett’s  

 

   8.45 PB explained that a lot of landlords do not use lettings agents as a standard in 

Brighton & Hove. There seemed to be a shocking disparity in terms of the 

services that lettings agents offer. The most important factor was who is the 

client and some of the lettings agents do not charge the landlords a fee. In those 

cases one could be sure that tenants would be facing exorbitant changes such 

as high admin charges, extra charges for contracts and changes to tenants plus 

a surcharge for repairs. Landlords sometimes do not see an invoice for work 

carried out at a property and get an invoice from the agent rather than the 

tradesperson, with a commission added on top. Another example of varied terms 

is the agents who charge the six month AST commission fee up front to 

landlords and then the agents have little incentive to provide any service once 

they have got their fee.  

 

8.46 When the agent is earning money from the tenant they want a high turnover 

with tenants giving them notice after four months. The agent then prevents any 

communication between the tenant and landlord about why the tenant has 

68



55 
 

moved out. Whereas the majority of tenants want security of tenure for between 

1-5 years and the landlords want reliability and steadiness.  

 

8.47 There were increasing numbers of very different landlords in the city, such as 

those offering party house accommodation that encouraged the worst behaving 

people to come into the city who have no incentive to be good neighbours for a 

short break. Neighbours hoped to encourage estate agents not to sell properties 

onto party house operators. Another issue is naïve landlords were least likely to 

know the impact of not paying commission to the agents. Then tenants and their 

neighbours were the people most likely to suffer as the person who owns the 

building is not effectively a ‘client’ as they are paying little or nothing for a 

‘service’. When this market needed was increased regulation, transparency and 

standardisation.  

 

Q: In the last 10 years have you noticed that there are increasing numbers of 

vulnerable people entering the private rented sector and how do you deal 

with them? 

 

    8.48 PB said that he was not an expert in this field and only once last year had 

dealt with a landlord providing housing for vulnerable people and they had ended 

up being rehoused by the landlord in another property.  

 

Q: Cllr Randall summed this up by saying that one needed a licence to clip a 

poodle but not set up a lettings agency. What are your thoughts? 

 

8.49 PB explained that anyone can set up an agency and a lot of them were 

franchises. One should become a member of the Association of Rental Lettings 

Agents (ARLA) which offered a bonded scheme/code of practice, and this should 

be expected to be the norm for any agency. But without belonging to such a 

scheme, one can get the people who did not give a damn.  

 

Q: What do you think of the model of tenants rating their landlords? Could this 

be done in partnership with estate agents and the council? 

 

69



56 
 

8.50 PB thought this could be a very good idea, with lettings agents being set a 

minimum standard and checked annually and externally checked. They should 

need to get references from landlords and tenants.  

 

Q: What could the council do to help this to happen? 

       

8.51 PB thought that regulation might be needed, for example that anyone who sets 

up as a lettings agent in the city should join the Brighton & Hove Estate Agents 

Association as well as ARLA. This could help prevent someone from being a 

poor lettings agent and get away with it. Action could be taken if a complaint was 

made to the council. There was not transparency over a complaints procedure. 

There was concern that tenants at the lower level of affordability could have a 

fear of revenge evictions. There may be a national organisation/website which 

supposedly lists bad tenants.  

 

8.52 There were lettings agencies which specialised in central areas of the city, for 

example in the Lewes Road where there is a focus on student lets. There was a 

need for a more holistic approach between university agents, landlords and 

tenants – which were often dealing with poor quality stock.  

 

Q: What changes have you seen to the private rented sector in the last 10-15 

years? 

 

8.53 PB thought there were a lot more Buy to Let (BLT) landlords with one or two 

properties and some had become more professional. Good estate agents and 

lettings agencies will educate less experienced landlords, for example showing 

how improving conditions to make homes habitable will lead to better tenants. In 

the last five years, especially the last three, there had been a significant increase 

in foreign students and labour market changes. Up to 50% of tenants are from 

overseas, so the tenant demographic was now very different.  

 

Q: The programme on television about the super-rich which aired last night 

asserted that there had been no trickledown effect, with the poorest now 

subsidising the richest. 40% of housing was being bought by outsiders. 

Tony Mernagh says that housing is a reflection of where the economy is.  

There was a need for a good private rented sector and good relations 

70



57 
 

between the stakeholders, so what could be done to improve relations 

between them?     

 

8.54 PB told the panel of the need to hear the tenants’ voice. Hear the ordinary voice 

of tenants. On the whole the tenants Bonett’s deal with were happy. In the last 

year the only tenant who left their accommodation did because he could no 

longer afford his home after losing his job. If you get it right, then one could have 

a good long term relationship with your tenants. But what was needed for lettings 

agents was: 

 

• Benchmarking 

• Transparency 

• Approval.  

 

Q: What is the average number of prospective tenants viewing each property? 

 

8.55 PB said that on average 10-15 people would contact them within the hour about 

each one bedroom property that came on the market. Their organisation would 

not deal with homes in poor condition. However even homes in poorer condition 

would be taken by those in desperate need.  

 

8.56 GW explained that he employed a labourer who has moved from working on 

one bedroom units to student units and had found that these properties were 

usually let within one day. He felt that there was a shortage of properties in the 

city, but it was roughly in balance unlike London.  

 

Q: Was there a need to view the private sector in a different way, to see it as a 

permanent way of housing rather than transient? 

 

 8.57 PB said that in central Berlin one could rent a unit for five to ten years. While 

our system may have gone too far to alter to this level of stability, there should 

be a change from Assured Shorthold Tenancies. One should be able to offer 

tenancies of three years or more, which had break clauses. The first time a one 

bedroom flat was being rented out for between £600-£650 per month, but then it 

would rise up by 30% in the following two years to £800. 

71



58 
 

 

8.58 GW believed that it was interest rates which had the maximum impact. A lot of 

landlords were mortgaged to the hilt and if the tenancy defaulted on their rent it 

could cause significant problems. 

 

8.59 MS said that the city was a pilot for the ASB Act and that landlords had not 

been consulted even though it gave them mandatory grounds for possession. 

The council had extensive powers to deal with rogue landlords. Long tenancies 

were not granted in case there were instances of ASB from the tenant, as it was 

almost impossible to gain possession on this ground. If one could gain 

possession for ASB as easily as rent arrears, then landlords would feel happier 

about granting longer term tenancies. There was only a charge of £100 to extend 

their tenancies and if this was not affordable, then they would help them resolve 

this.  

 

8.60 PB gave an example from another agent who had charged people in a shared 

house £300 to change a name on the tenancy agreement, but his company did 

not charge for this.  

 

Julie Frith (JF), Partner – Land & New Homes, Mishon Mackay 

 

8.61 JF told the panel that she agreed with the majority of observations of PB. Her 

expertise was in the new homes market and had found with the marketing of 

new apartment blocks that approximately 60% of these units were being sold to 

investors. While one could argue that improving the number of homes to rent 

was taking the pressure off the lower end of the market, the selling of so many 

homes to investors was not helping the city.  

 

8.62 The Brighton & Hove Estate Agents Association (BHEAA) only received 

between two or three complaints a year about agents. If the letting agent was a 

member of ARLA then they would be dealt with by them, but the BHEAA did not 

have many powers and so was not much of an influence on the rental market. 

Landlords welcomed long term tenancies, although this was not ideal if the 

tenants are causing problems.  

 

72



59 
 

8.63 Rental was going to become a way of life, so central government should look at 

increasing the security of tenure for tenants. In the past renters would have 

moved on to owner occupation in their 20’s but now were still renters in their 

30’s. The result was accidental landlords and the loss of family accommodation 

in the rental market. The rental market for properties at around £1,500 pcm was 

reducing. 

 

8.64 Regulating landlords may be the only way forward to protect vulnerable tenants. 

Everyone wanted to live in Brighton & Hove but there was a limited supply of 

properties. Rental properties were needed for key workers, such as care 

workers, an issue which has been discussed at length at the Strategic Housing 

Partnerships.  

 

Q: My grandparents lived in the private rented sector for 40 years and they 

were responsible for their property’s maintenance and decoration. In 

Brighton & Hove rental properties there seem to be a very high standard of 

decoration and supply of white goods, was this required or personal to this 

city? 

 

   8.65 JF explained that with a six month tenancy then you could not expect tenants 

to take on responsibility for the property and feel an ownership of it. The property 

would never feel quite theirs.  

 

Q: This seems like a vicious circle, as does this then impact on the tenant’s 

rental charges?  

 

Q: How can best practice be encouraged in the industry and by the council 

then? 

 

 8.66 JF encouraged all lettings agencies to be part of ARLA. In the same way that 

she would not book a holiday without using an ABTA recognised travel agency. 

However due to the high demand, there was a scrabble for property and 

prospective tenants would often not look to see if the agent was ARLA 

registered. It would be good to have ARLA membership as a requirement for all 

lettings agencies.  

73



60 
 

 

Q: Was not sure whether tenants were aware of ARLA. The majority of tenants 

felt lucky to have a roof over their head and they were under pressure to 

keep their heads down and work out how to face their own costs such as 

energy metres. Was this the case?                     

   

  8.77 JF thought it was more difficult for tenants seeking accommodation on a short 

term basis to shop around because of the pressure of wanting a roof over their 

heads. If there was greater security of tenure, then tenants could shop around. 

There were other costs associated with moving frequently such as removal costs 

and agent’s fees. It would be for the good of tenants to be able to have longer 

tenancies. 

 

Q: How can longer term tenancies be encouraged? There are limits on how 

much the local authority can do to intervene and it largely depended on 

what central government chose to do in the future. 

 

   8.78 JF thought it was vital to educate tenants about these issues. The BHEAA 

could help with this, for example issuing press releases about the need to shop 

around for good landlords.  

 

Q: If developers were ‘not building for people in the city’ and 60% of units were 

going to investors, where do the local population go? 

 

 8.79 When new developments went onto the sales market, 60% sold to investors. 

This meant many new homes are changing and becoming more luxury lets, to 

foreign language students and overseas students. These products did not tend 

to appeal to existing renters who prefer the older properties in the city. Brighton 

& Hove could only grow outwards or upwards, but was limited by the sea and the 

national park. 

 

Q: Were any of the family sized dwellings bypassing the market and going 

straight to investors? 

 

74



61 
 

   8.80 Some of the larger family units might be subject to HMO licensing. The ‘Down 

from London’s’ or DFLs were still a dominant factor. One could still sell a small 

unit in London and buy a bigger dwelling in the city. Some of buyers could be 

drawn to a new build. The people of B&H tended to stay in the existing stock 

rather than the newly developed homes.  

 

8.81 PB said that the property prices for new build were about 15% higher than 

second hand property, which again was pricing out local people. If developers 

were not able to achieve this profit from local people, they would rely on 

outsiders to buy these homes. So new developments in the city were not 

necessarily going to local people, which led to a cycle of non-affordability. The 

market changing was the only factor that was likely to affect this.  

 

Q: Do any sub-markets change? 

 

8.82 JF said that students tended to live in the corridor of subsidised buses and then 

remained in that area. Developers needed a profit margin of approximately 20% 

on projects otherwise banks would not lend to them. Smaller developments in 

the city did tend to attract downsizers, which did free up some family dwellings. 

Some of the luxury end developments might go to downsizers rather than 

investors.  

 

Q: 97% of all developments are on brownfield sites and the majority were less 

than 10 units. I am concerned about the health of those living in the private 

rented sector. The life expectancy of those living in Brunswick & Adelaide 

was one of the lowest in the city and part of this must be due to the 

densely packed older accommodation in the ward. What can we do to 

improve conditions in older buildings, given that 40% of stock was built 

before 1919. If people cannot afford to insulate the homes to reduce fuel 

poverty and carbon footprint, can anything be done to improve life 

expectancy? 

 

 8.83 JF told the panel that this issue had been debated at the last SHP meeting. 

One option was to insist that owners carry out more maintenance work. However 

some of the tenants may be in situ and do not want to move out (such as being 

encouraged to move into retirement accommodation in Whitehawk), so it was not 

75



62 
 

always possible to enforce. There was also an obligation for the city, including 

the council, to preserve its heritage. 

 

8.84 PMC gave the examples of cities such as Edinburgh which had done work on 

how to modernise older properties at reduced cost. Brighton & Hove has the 

second highest number of listed properties in England after Bath. Buildings are 

listed for the nation rather than for the owner. 

 

Q: How has the market changed 2011? Do we lack evidence or data? Do you 

think we can only gain partial snapshots? 

 

8.85 PB told the panel that data was produced by the council each quarter which is 

looked at by his organisation. The big issue was to increase affordability and 

tackle the disenfranchisement of our local people. A lot of people in the city 

would love to get on the property ladder, but a home that would have cost 

£30,000 14 years ago would now cost £180,000.  

 

8.86 GW thought that interest rates were too low. Constant changes of investment 

rates and house prices were what hurt. The dangers came as these rates 

changed, and landlords needed to feel that they could make at least a 10 year 

investment into the property. But if interest rates can change from 0.5% to 10% 

then this did not bring stability.  

 

8.87 AW did not know if we had the full picture, but trends were emerging: 

 

• Increasing rent arrears  

• Increasing revenge eviction               

 

The council needed to provide support services for those affected by these 

trends.   

 

8.88 The chair then made his summary of the evidence heard to date:  

 

76



63 
 

• The ‘perfect storm’ being the mismatch between the supply and demand for housing in 

the city 

• Affordability and the exclusion and lack of opportunity that came with unaffordable 

housing. The impact this had on the local population.  

• The diversity of the sector: this was not yet properly understood including the sub-

markets in the city, region and UK 

• Not one silver bullet, or panacea, for the challenges we face – need joined up thinking 

• Need to do this together and get right for society 

• The tension between the need for regulation and better management and their impact 

on feasibility 

• Data gaps  

• We were in a post-recession phase and the gaps were not yet understood including the 

increase in economic growth and its effect on supply 

• The length of tenancies and the potential for increasing stability 

• The effect of people from London (DFLs) buying up the city’s homes 

 

Abraham Baldry (AB), President, University of Sussex Students’ Union 

 

There were a number of points to celebrate in the Housing Strategy. It was important 

to address the problems in the private rented sector. From the perspective of the 

40,000 students in the city, it was in crisis. The demand outstripped supply, the rents 

were amongst the highest in the country, and there were problems with letting 

agents. 

 

The Students’ Union did a lot of research and produced the ‘Rate your Landlord’ 

report that looked at the experiences of students in the city. 25% said their 

experiences were good and 25% said their experiences were very negative of the 

private sector. These problems must be addressed. We needed better regulation of 

lettings agents and incentives for landlords to improve their stock. The Students’ 

Union opposed measures to make it more difficult to get houses, for example, the 

Article 4 Directive which restricted HMOs. 

 

Q: when students report negative experiences, what were the key issues? 

 

AB: they fell into three sections: before, during, and after. Before, the issues were 

around estate agents pressurising students into renting early, using scare tactics to 

say rent now or be homeless. In response, the Students’ Union ran a ‘Don’t rent yet’ 

campaign which ran until January. The main issues during renting were: high rent; 

the call response times for repairs; the standard of housing and health and safety, for 

example, very few students were shown the gas safety certificate. There were issues 

77



64 
 

around the quality of housing stock, for example, mould was obvious and 

preventable. Accommodation should be fit for habitation and properly insulated and 

furnished. After the rental period, the main issue was deposits being withheld: 

sometimes there would appear to be a cosy relationship between the independence 

of the assessor of the inventory and the letting agents. 95% of students reported that 

they were required to pay a deposit and only 28% had their deposit returned in full; 

43% had it partially returned; and 29% had their entire deposit taken. When in 

dispute, 59% who went into arbitration didn’t find it helpful. 

 

Q: was there evidence that landlords were evicting students for ASB? 

 

AB: Retaliatory evictions were an issue but not as a response to ASB but rather 

around raising issues around poor management. When students challenged letting 

agents about poor experiences, then there can be retaliatory evictions. This was a 

national issue. No particular experiences of ASB. 

 

Q: how much of an issue was affordability? 

 

AB: the average rent has been rising year on year for the last ten years. On average 

students pay £95.72/week. Post-graduates pay £102 per person per week, not 

including bills. This was higher than the national average. A key issue was that the 

student loan was not adjusted for higher rents – in London students get an extra 

£1,000. Some students find their loan doesn’t cover their rent. 

 

Q: was this leading to over-crowding? 

 

AB: On average there were 3 students per house for Sussex University students 

which suggest this wasn’t an issue. However, some houses do have a large number 

of people in a relatively small space so it can happen. 

 

Q: there were around 4million people in chronic poverty in the private rented sector 

in 2003. What are your views regarding this? 

 

78



65 
 

AB: students as a group on a low income couldn’t afford to pay rent and live. There 

was a real need to address this macro problem. Something had to change. 

 

Q: did the Students’ Union endorse certain letting agents? 

 

AB: Sussex University ran an ethical letting agency. It didn’t charge fees (which can 

be £200-£300 per person) and it offered de-facto accreditation. They were exploring 

the possibility of an accreditation scheme. The ‘Rate your Landlord’ research also 

had rankings for estate agents as good/bad according to students. 

 

‘Movem’ was a website that acts like a ‘trip advisor’ for landlords. The Students’ 

Union were looking at working with Movem. 

 

Students loved being in Brighton and they have a lot to give both economically and 

socially. Although students don’t pay Council Tax, B&HCC received an allowance of 

around £6.25m in 2014 from central Government. 

 

 

Charles Dudley, Director of Residential and Campus Services (CD) and Dean 

Spears, Housing Services Manager, University of Sussex (DS) 

 

CD: the University of Sussex has had a Housing Strategy since 1989. They had 

acquired and built new properties and had created more than 2,100 bed spaces in 

the past 6 years, the majority on the Falmer campus. There was a great demand for 

purpose-built accommodation: 1,105 bed-spaces in  accommodation on campus and 

more was planned. Students liked purpose-built accommodation because they 

wanted high standard accommodation and very good IT – they wanted study areas 

and 13amp power supplies. The University held workshops with students returning 

after their 1st year: 100% said they would like the option of returning to University 

managed, nominated or Head leased student accommodation. This was a key driver 

for the Housing Strategy. The University had grown over the years but this had been 

matched by housing development. They guaranteed to house all new students who 

required it: in addition to around 500 students annually who would otherwise be in 

the private rented sector. Around 19-20% per year didn’t require housing as they 

lived in the region. The University worked to help all the 1st year students to prepare 

79



66 
 

them and gave advice when transitioning to the private sector for those who 

preferred not to apply for a place in University managed accommodation in their post 

first year of accommodation. 

 

DS – in 2014 the University had 5,004 bed spaces that they managed, owned or 

head-leased. This figure had doubled over the last 10 years. They guaranteed 

accommodation to all 1st year students who wanted it (subject to certain conditions 

outlined in their housing guarantee). They were keen to make the best use of the 

campus. Returning students can also be housed in the 5,004 bed spaces subject to 

availability: last year 530 of these were returning students and the year before, 500 

were returning students, equating to approximately 100 less properties being 

occupied by Sussex students in the private sector annually. The University had also 

head-leases properties and in 2014 they had 271 bed-spaces in over 50 properties. 

They leased properties from landlords and took responsibility for all maintenance etc. 

From September 2014 Abacus residence (on the London Road, former Co-op 

building) housed 300 Sussex students via a nominations agreement with The 

Student Housing Company who run the residence. 

 

Generally it was usually older, mature and overseas students and whom were likely 

to have lived away from home before, who were in private rented accommodation. 

They were able to house the vast majority of Freshers in their own accommodation.  

 

The private sector rented properties for 2015 were launched today (23 January 

20150 for Sussex students looking for accommodation from September 2015.  

Landlords advertising with the University must comply with a code of standards. The 

University provided advice, housing talks on behaviour, about living in the community 

and had a property database website called ‘Sussex Student Pad’. There was an 

extensive support package available with at least £250,000 spent on residential 

welfare support including 100 residential advisors who were students who provided 

support. There were a number of new initiatives: they had around 6,000 hits per 

month on their website on advice on living in the community, and had arranged to 

talk to LATs in the key areas. They were providing a guide to all Sussex students in 

the private rented sector and asked letting agents to be involved to help disseminate 

the guide, along with other partners too, including the council and Sussex Students’ 

Union. They had produced a short film to encourage students in Years 2 and 3 to 

consider applying for a place in Sussex University accommodation rather than 

private rented accommodation. Research last year showed that there were more 

students on campus than ever before and, indeed more students living on campus 

than in the surrounding private rented accommodations with Sussex residents 

recorded in 2014/15 in the following wards being low, for example, Queens Park 

80



67 
 

(6%); Hollingdean and Stanmer (5.3%); North Laine (11%); Mouslecoomb and 

Bevendean (10%). The University had a property management link, advice, support 

and guidance in all of these areas. 

 

Q: what were the rental prices in the purpose built accommodation? 

 

DS: there were 11 price ranges from £81/week up to £140/week. All accommodation 

was self-catering with all bills included and insurance and residential support. 

 

AB: there was a range of accommodation off campus. The Students’ Union was 

concerned that the range of accommodation was maintained as there were plans to 

replace the Old East Slope building with more expensive accommodation. In the 

‘Rate your landlord‘ report 31% said they went into the private rented 

accommodation. The Students’ Union welcomed a guarantee that students won’t be 

priced out of the market. 

 

CD: there will be a range of accommodation when the East Slope residences were 

replaced. There were bursaries of up to £2,000/year to support First Generation 

Scholars and many used it to upgrade their accommodation preference to those with 

en-suite facilities and accommodate above standard. The majority of growth in 

students has been post-graduates – Sussex attracted a lot of 1 year Masters 

courses and PHD students. Often 20-24year olds stayed on as young professionals 

and they stayed in the same areas of the city. 

 

Q: the council corporately supports the growth of accommodation but it wasn’t clear 

where the growth will end. How will this be capped? 

 

CD: the long term strategy set a target of 18,000 students registered at Sussex by 

2018. One reason was that in the past, the University didn’t grow when the others 

did and they needed to catch up. There was a study on the contribution the 

University makes to the city: we recognised the contribution we made to the 

economy but there were concerns about housing. Growth was matched by 

predictions - if there was no additional demand. It was very difficult to say what will 

happen going forward.  

 

81



68 
 

Q: what was your view on ‘Rate your landlord’? 

 

DS: ‘Rate your landlord’ was an excellent resource and they referred to the report 

produced by the Sussex Students’ Union to give advice to their students as it 

included the past experiences of living in the private rented sector from former 

Sussex students. 

 

Chris Henry (CH) Home Sweet Home (HSH) 

 

CH: Home Sweet Home (HSH) was two years old and started with a group of people 

with problems in the rented market who came together. There had been lots of 

listening and talking to people from over the city (Hove, Portslade, Kemp Town) who 

have had the same problems. HSH had grown over the last 2 years and they had 2 

years of feedback from the ground. There was a small core of issues: for example, 

problems with deposits and broken equipment. There was a general feeling that “the 

council lets landlords get away with it.” This was linked to the idea of the confusion 

over tenant’s rights and recourse when problems arise, and a lack of transparency – 

this was across all areas of council housing, lettings, and private renting. People 

were saying ‘what was the council’s role?’. People found the system opaque and 

didn’t know how to access help.  

 

Lettings agents were a huge issue. One agent had a council accreditation badge in 

the window but was one of the worst landlords. HSH arranged a ‘clean up your act’ 

event to pressurise the company to meet then and talk about improving their 

customer service. Another big issue was poor quality accommodation – security and 

inadequate facilities was another common theme. There was confusion over who 

can resolve problems.  

 

Revenge eviction was a tangible thing – there was a parliamentary debate on this 

recently and HSH pressurised the city’s MPs to attend and vote. 

 

The solutions involved transparency and the idea of a robust scheme of providing 

information for people. There was a role for the council in this. This was linked to the 

idea of awareness of the role of housing officers, maintenance, how do prosecutions 

happen? There was a feeling that landlords got away with it and things were 

82



69 
 

shrouded in mystery. There was a need for clarity and a clear pathway to enable 

people to get answers. 

 

Q: were people made more vulnerable by the actions of letting agents? 

 

CH: yes, including students. One area of vulnerability was a lack of security in doors 

and windows; another area was families who were in very small homes and had 

children with health issues. 

 

Q: were people forced to keep moving house? 

 

CH: the name Home Sweet Home came from the idea of adverts that showed lovely 

homes (for example at Christmas) but that wasn’t the reality for many in the city. 

There were interesting demographics: young professionals got stuck on the treadmill 

of moving from one property to the next as a result of letting agents fees and high 

costs; at the other end people were trapped and can’t move and were stuck in small, 

expensive flats they couldn’t afford to leave, for example, they didn’t have a deposit. 

In addition, people still needed a guarantor which caused problems. 

 

Q: on the idea that ‘the council was letting landlords get away with it’ there weren’t 

many powers the council actually had. 

 

CH: the phrase was one that expressed the sentiment we heard. It was about 

awareness and a lack of understanding of how much or how little the council could 

do. It needed to be made clear what the council actually could do. 

 

Q: should we look to roll out a ‘rate your landlord’ scheme? 

 

CH: something like the council’s food ratings ‘scores on the doors’ that served as a 

council accreditation scheme would be useful. Lettings agents should be transparent 

and say what the contract was, when deposits were returned, and when 

maintenance was done. 

 

83



70 
 

AB: there was an issue around letting agents who didn’t care. The agents who didn’t 

care needed to be tacked or there would always be around 24% of students in poor, 

expensive accommodation. 

 

Q: we had some success with Article 4 but the council were facing a de-regulatory 

environment and budget savings. Should we be pursuing this further? 

 

CH: there were licensing schemes in other councils that were successful. If a 

landlord needed a licence then the cost of this would make the scheme work and 

become self-financing. Licensing would raise standards and identify rogue landlords. 

 

Q: had there been many changes in the market in the last 5 years? 

 

CH: there had been lots of changes with more families renting and a lot of people in 

their 40s still renting. This was a major shift. 15 years ago a teacher would be able to 

buy a home, for example - this is no longer the case. 

 

Candice Armah, President Brighton Students’ Union (CA) 

 

CA - Brighton University had 5 campuses over 65miles in East Sussex, with the 

majority in Brighton. The University was not just growing in Brighton but also in 

Hastings. The Students’ Union had been lobbying landlords and letting agents and 

had been recording the issues raised. The main challenges facing students were: 

price; condition of accommodation; student loans insufficient; pressure to rent early; 

and not enough bigger houses. The average house had between 3 and 7 students in 

Brighton. Around 82% of eligible first year students were housed in student 

accommodation but there were still a large number in the private sector. Tenants’ 

rights were a big issue, particularly for first time renters. The Union had recently 

launched a ‘Tenants Rights Guide’. They were also working with the University on a 

‘Don’t rent yet’ scheme. They also supported students to create their own house-

hunting guide and a ‘Good Neighbour Guide’. Along with Home Sweet Home they 

were taking evidence on retaliatory evictions (Section 21 Notice to Quit) which was a 

big issue and they joined with Home Sweet Home to lobby parliament. 

 

84



71 
 

Many students chose to stay in the city with 35% in 2009 still living in the city which 

was one of the highest in the country. This provided a challenge – but also brought 

huge benefits. 

 

Q: anecdotally PHD students in the city were in lower paid jobs. How does this 

translate in housing terms? 

 

CA – Like many new graduates, it is likely that PHD students are doing low paid 

work in the city – this translates to them also being more likely to live in student 

houses because of rent costs. The high level of graduates in the city meant they 

were likely to get graduate-level jobs later than elsewhere, but they did get those 

jobs. Often it was easier to stay in a housing contract than move. 

 

Q: how important was joint working in addressing the issues? 

 

CA – joint working was key. Greater work was needed around integrated working. 

The Students Union had community organisers who explained the benefits of 

communication with others in the community and contributing to others’ lives. 

 

Q: did students prefer purpose-built accommodation? 

 

CA – there was a growing trend of student with families requesting purpose-built 

accommodation. Purpose-built accommodation can seem pricey when balanced 

against the cost of the private rented sector in the city. There was an issue around 

upfront costs and the costs of letting agent’s fees in the private sector. Students can 

be asked for 6 months’ rent upfront: last year the University agreed to be a guarantor 

for a small cohort of students. 

 

Q: Article 4 regulates HMOs where there was a concentration of students: some 

streets were student streets. This was only a problem if there were issues around 

behaviour or rubbish. 

 

CA – This was where a ‘meet your neighbours’ scheme is useful. If students lived 

further out and travel was affordable and reliable then they could fan out into 

85



72 
 

cheaper areas. We recently negotiated the £3 bus ticket for students to travel 

through the city. This is only one small step towards alleviating pressures in areas 

with lots of HMOs and encouraging students to move further out – but more work 

needs to be done.  

 

Q: did transport have the potential to help address the issues? 

 

CA – potentially it means that students can live in other areas. Subsidised student 

travel could help. It was increasingly difficult to say honesty to people to come here 

when housing was unaffordable and the buses don’t turn up – it puts the University 

and the Students’ Union in a difficult situation. 

 

CB – transport was key and an issue the University was also discussing. The 

Students’ Unions and Universities can work together – on this and on being good 

neighbours. 

 

Sabina Wagner, Assistant Head of Accommodation Services, Brighton 

University (SW) 

 

SW – the University provided 1,600 bed spaces in Brighton & Hove and were looking 

to build an additional 2,000 in the next five years. In addition they managed homes 

on lease arrangements. The University of Brighton’s accommodation strategy was 

under review, which was based on surveys of students. Their findings included that 

the majority of students wanted facilities such as Wi-Fi, cleaning, shared common 

space with informal seating, TVs and American Fridges. They were aware that a 

significant percentage of ‘returners’ who wanted to live in the private rented sector.  

 

One of the key areas of expansion was the growing campus in Hastings. While the 

university was spreading slightly away from Brighton, many of the issues were the 

same as those in the rest of Sussex. 

 

Students were house searching now for places to live in September 2015, after they 

had only been living in Brighton & Hove since September 2014. So the University 

was providing the students with advice and support, including a Housing Fair today. 

86



73 
 

House hunting events are also held later in the academic year and over summer to 

support students looking for accommodation. 

 

The University managed a portfolio of homes for which students did not have to pay 

a fee or deposit and this presents a more affordable option for them. The students 

enter into a contract with the university as their landlord. There was a dedicated 

Housing Advice Service for students which provided the full range of help from minor 

issues to more serious issues where legal help may be sought. The University had a 

whole range of publications which related to students and housing issues.  

 

There was a community liaison team and a dedicated Police Officer who worked with 

the University. There was also a team of people living and working in the Halls of 

residence to support students 24/7. There were also advice events to support 

students. Affordability was a key issue: there were signs that people were finding it 

difficult to meet their rent and energy payments. If people don’t use heating enough, 

there were related issues of mould and condensation. 

 

Q: did you charge a fee for leasing properties? Do you lease on the outskirts of the 

city? 

 

SW – a small amount was taken to cover staff costs in order for the scheme to be 

self-financing. The properties were within the boundaries of Brighton & Hove and no 

further than Portslade. 

 

DS - the University of Sussex didn’t charge any fees and charged the same rent as 

their own properties. The standard room rate was £105 including bills and insurance. 

The criterion for leasing properties was that they were a 10 minute walk from a public 

transport along with detailed specifications about the condition of the property and 

required contents, including bring fully furnished to the University’s standards, above 

the council HMO requirements for example. The Head leasing scheme follows best 

practice. 

 

Q: what was the impact of bills on affordability? 

 

87



74 
 

CB – the aim was for no surprises by encouraging budgeting. We also responded to 

energy initiatives such as ‘switch off’. 

 

SW – 1st year students all had inclusive rent which may look expensive but included 

bills, Wi-Fi, sports facilities, insurance etc. 

 

Q: was there a problem with rent arrears in your leased properties? 

 

DS – the University had a very supportive debt management team who took steps to 

minimise problems, including via advice, support and guidance to their students. 

There were approximately 20 ‘notices to quit’ per year and only 1 person taken to 

court in the past 3 years as all other cases were resolved beforehand. 

 

SW: the University has a dedicated debt management team and Accommodation 

Services employ their own officer who supports students experiencing problems with 

paying their accommodation fees. In 2013/14, 2 notices to quit were served on 

students living in unihomes. No court action was required. 

 

Q: what were the prevailing trends over the last 5 years? 

 

SW – there has been a rise in international students and more PHD students or 

those with young families. Expectations were higher: with fees of £9,000 students 

were more discerning. Brighton was an expensive place to live. The University’s 

accommodation team had a key objective to raise standards for student 

accommodation in the city. 

 

David Gibson – Living Rent (DG) 

 

DG – the Living Rent campaign started around 1year ago with the idea that the 

Living Wage was great but is no good if someone can’t pay their rent. A campaign 

started and included such events as a bedroom in the street, and a petition signed 

by 2,500 people. The main thrust of the campaign was that rent was too high. The 

Living Rent campaign looked at the bigger picture: the housing market worked until 

de-regulation in 1988 with the loss of secure tenancy and rent regulation. Before 

88



75 
 

1988 the private rented sector was more affordable and there was more social 

housing. The vision of Living Rent was to push political parties to a consensus with a 

return to rent controls- that is fair rents levels, not just limits on increases as some 

are proposing large scale social housing, and secure tenancies. 

 

The Living Rent campaign welcomed the Housing Committee’s response to their 

petition and the licensing of HMOs with improved fire safety, fuel efficiency and 

conditions. They would like to see this go further with the de-registration of landlords 

who did not meet the standards (as in the London Borough of Newham). 

 

New council housing must be affordable: 80% is only affordable for some people. 

The council needs to do more and base rents on affordability not the market 

conditions. This was something that only the council could do – some low paid 

workers were living in vans as they couldn’t afford housing. 

 

Discrimination against claimants was a problem with lots of properties not accessible 

to claimants. Other issues included insecurity, fear of reporting repairs and moving 

frequently. 

 

There was a huge range of rents in the city and a register of ethical landlords would 

be helpful.  Brighton & Hove could be the first living rent city – set up an inquiry or a 

commission to properly assess a living rent and to explore how it could be promoted 

on a voluntary basis 

 

Q: what was the national picture? 

 

DG – Brighton & Hove was one of the fourth or fifth most expensive city outside 

London. 

 

Q: have you calculated a figure for living rent? 

 

DG – a ballpark figure would be around £563 based on a number of the assumptions 

– it is around one third of the median take home income of people working in 

Brighton and Hove. 

89



76 
 

 

Q: what about private landlords who needed the rent to cover their mortgages? 

 

DG – there were few landlords on such tight margins and many bought properties 

cheaply and have seen the rent and capital value of their properties increase 

markedly since they bought. Many  are creaming off a large surplus from rent payers 

and in the case of many the tax payers who fund housing benefit. Proper rent 

controls were needed with a formula that linked rents with affordability. Some 

landlords want to be ethical and any fair rents could be phased in over several years 

 

Q: how could an ethical landlord scheme work? 

 

DG – there could be stars for good aspects such as security, affordable rents, 

transparency over charges, responsive repairs, flexibility etc. An accreditation 

scheme could be developed. 

 

CA – the University of Bristol had a long running ethical letting agency. 

 

DS –the University of Sussex letting agency has been very successful and sustained 

growth. 

 

SW -  the University of Brighton would support ethical awards – they have a code of 

standards in place. 

 

 

Clive Gross (CG), East Sussex Community Co-ordinator, Generation Rent 

 

CG opened by explaining that Generation Rent was formerly known as The National 

Private Tenants Organisation. There was a central team in London focussing on key 

issues and the national agenda, while federal campaigns were being run in a range 

of locations including Liverpool and Manchester. He would like to endorse much of 

what had been said by David Gibson previously in the meeting. 

90



77 
 

 

CG was both a renter and a landlord in Hastings, and had previously carried out 

these roles in Eastbourne. There were only a limited number of actions a local 

authority could do to intervene, but the council could set the renting culture for 

Brighton & Hove. The council could send out messages about how it believed that 

private renting should work in the city. 

 

He believed that the private rented sector was too short term and there needed to be 

greater security of tenure like in Germany and Scandinavia; the people renting in 

Berlin’s rental market for instance all knew where they stood. The United Kingdom 

was property obsessed and increasingly investment in this had become the main 

alternative to pensions, leading to huge growth in accidental landlords. Some 

accidental landlords were good but many were unaware of their responsibilities and 

needed education. There were also professional landlords made up of large 

companies or individuals with a significant portfolio. It was too easy to be a bad 

landlord, especially when the demand for accommodation was so high. 

 

Generation Rent felt there was the need for an ethical landlord and tenants’ scheme, 

which could also help those on benefits or who had poor rent records, into housing. 

There was the need to move to high standards in this sector, rather than specifying 

minimum standards for the stock. It was recognised that tenants may also need to be 

encouraged to ‘perform’ better too; in his experience in Hastings there were 

significant issues with rubbish dumping and fly tipping by tenants.  

 

On average it cost around £500-£1,000 each time to move from one private rented 

home to another, which could be a huge additional cost when Assured Shorthold 

Tenancies (ASTs) may only last for 6 months.  

 

StudentPad62 (a student accommodation search engine for the University of 

Brighton) and Sussex University showed that one could run ethical, social enterprise, 

models which did not place the burden purely on the tenant.  

 

CG believed that the LB Newham selective licensing scheme seemed to work very 

well, particularly as it had been given additional resources for enforcement. He 

believed in ‘enforcement, enforcement, enforcement’ as it was vital that landlords did 

                                            
62

 http://www.brightonstudentpad.co.uk/Accommodation 

91



78 
 

not feel they could get away with it. That BHCC needed to make landlords feel that 

they had to improve standards or be driven out of the market. The standards needed 

to be enforced rigorously and publically. He used to attend the social landlords forum 

about 18 months ago while manager of Brighton Independent Mediation Service.  

 

CG thought that social tenants were increasingly being displaced into areas such as 

Newhaven, which were more affordable. Those who were driven to live in these 

areas tended not to buy into them and lost their existing networks. This kind of 

displacement could lead to social problems.  

 

He wondered whether BHCC as the planning authority allowed homes to be turned 

into HMOs, which represented them being sub-divided into smaller units? The large 

majority of the city’s stock was Victorian and some landlords were trying to maximise 

their profits by converting homes into the largest number of units they could. He felt 

that planning policy need to rebalance this mix.  

 

Q: Was there a slight conflict between the universities and a concern over 

Article 4? Various campaign organisations had highlighted that in areas such 

as Blackpool, a lot of B&Bs were being turned into HMOs and there the 

Planning department had begun to restrict the creation of HMOs to less than 3 

units. 

 

CG thought that Exeter had done the same thing in trying to restrict the number of 

HMOs in their city63. It was good for this city to have two universities, with students 

who wanted to stay when their studies had been completed. Both universities were 

trying to grow their own provision which was the best thing for rebalancing the 

housing market. Students suffered the same problems as ‘regular renters’ and they 

were all in the same boat. The universities were both responsible and forward 

looking, so understood the need for mixed communities and the dispersal of students 

round the city. The policies in Exeter had not been universally popular such as these  

HMO restrictions, but it was based on the need to rebalance communities. It was 

also important to remember that houses were for living in, rather than investment. 

 

Q: Was there significant displacement from Brighton & Hove to areas such as 

Eastbourne and Hastings? 

                                            
63

 http://www.exeter.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=13453 
 

92



79 
 

 

CG thought there were significant levels of displacement in Hastings, but much of 

this was from London boroughs such as Newham and Walthamstow. It seems in 

Brighton & Hove that they only way to house clients was to place them in the 

‘Havens’ such as Newhaven. The key cultural change had been that people wanted 

to now live in the city centre, when once they had moved out into the suburbs which 

had sprung up. This was a generational shift and there was a need for rebalancing 

and displacement back out into the outer lying areas again. The council as a 

strategic authority had a role in that rebalancing.  

 

Q: Who can help shape the rental culture?  

  

CG thought that the universities, BHCC as well as major employers (such as Amex) 

could take on responsibilities – for example the problems faced by Cityclean in 

securing staff because of housing costs, which have been leading to an increasing 

number of staff commuting or even living in sheds or caravans. Employers needed to 

pay a living wage and need to be concerned about the welfare of their staff.  

 

There was also a role for lettings agents and landlords associations. Agents should 

provide a matching service, but seem to be driving up the property investment 

market; overheating an already overheated market. The value of an ethical lettings 

agent would be to get landlords, tenants and lettings agents to work together for their 

mutual benefit. The value which BHCC could bring was to set an ethical marker.  

 

Cathy Reeves (CR), Vice Chair of the London Road Local Action Team (LAT) 

 

CR explained that they were a community organisation with no political agenda. 

They worked with other community groups to improve the area. For example Viaduct 

Road linked to most parts of town and was a short but busy and congested road 

lined with many HMOs. Many of them occupied by students, so there was little 

permanent residency in the street. This road was very rundown and the perception 

was that the owners of HMOs there did not care. The majority of properties were 

advertised by lettings agents who would not usually engage with the LAT. The 

majority of complaints about the road related to wheelie bins, rubbish not being left 

out and furniture being dumped on the street. This all reduced the general amenities 

of those living, working and travelling there.  

93



80 
 

 

PC suggested to her that she contacted the Planning Enforcement Team who could 

serve a 215 notice requiring them to make good public facing areas. CR replied that 

a Planning official had made a presentation to the LAT about 215 notices and done a 

walkabout of Viaduct Road and the issue was ongoing. PC explained that there had 

been a focus by Planning Enforcement using these notices on the seafront and 

London Road. The effects of such notices in his ward had been uplifting, so he 

thought it was important to persevere.  

 

Q: How has the situation changed in the last five years, and do you think your 

LAT is facing the same issues as other LATs? 

 

CR explained that she had only taken this role on last year but when the LAT 

meetings were advertised, students did come and talk to them about issues. Often 

students did not know when to put the rubbish out and other important information, 

but seemed keen to engage with the rest of the community. The LAT wanted a better 

area for all and to work with all parties including lettings agents, landlords and owner 

occupiers. Momentum was now gathering apace. 

Q: Were problems being caused by the increasing transience of the 

community and the reducing cohesion?  

 

 CR felt that by the time the transient members of the community had learnt when to 

put the rubbish out, then they moved on.  

 

Q: Would longer term tenancies be of value? Can students be encouraged to 

be good members of the community? What would be the one thing the council 

could do? 

 

CR told the panel that it would go a long way to have a ‘scores on the door’ scheme 

for rental properties, similar to that for eating establishments and food hygiene. This 

would help potential renters to find good landlords and lettings agents. It could 

involve a register of licensed properties which could be removed from the list if they 

fell below required standards.  

 

94



81 
 

The fees of lettings agents needed to be transparent as well as the services they 

provide. Many tenants would have no idea of who was their landlord and what they 

should pay for the tasks carried out by the letting agents. She wondered what was 

the big secret? The council could play a role in tightening up the woolly way of letting 

properties out. If you were a tenant of the council or a registered social landlord 

(RSL) you would know the following: 

 

• Who your landlord was 

• What your rent should be 

• Your rights and responsibilities.  

She thought that BHCC could look into this.   

  

Ann Johnson (AJ), CAB 

 

AJ gave evidence to the previous scrutiny panel in December 2010 about letting 

agents and in particular in respect of complaints about their fees. There was now a 

lower level of complaints about lettings agents' fees because in a few weeks' time 

they would be obliged by law to display their fees and many agents now already do 

so, so that clients are not taken by surprise. It was still the policy of the Citizen’s 

Advice Bureau (CAB) that the landlord should foot the bill for charges from lettings 

agents.  

 

The CAB has a system of collecting information about the problems of people visiting 

the bureau which raise questions of importance to social policy. 43 people had 

sought help between April and December 2014 about problems in the private rented 

sector which raised sufficient concern to be recorded in this way. 60% of these 

related to repairs, with either the landlord or lettings agent failing to ensure they were 

carried out. Ten people had problems with deposits, even though a deposit scheme 

was in operation. This issue was a particular problem with HMOs where it was 

complicated to sort out deposits. The other six problems were mostly connected to 

charges, and problems with guarantors.  

 

It seemed that one of the key problems was the bad state of the housing stock. One 

remedy to look at is a register of landlords.  Such schemes are in force in Scotland, 

and in Oxford. Operating such a scheme could be problematic. The sanction 

imposed by such schemes is that bad landlords could be struck off. A national 

redress scheme in relation to lettings agents had been introduced last October, but 

95



82 
 

the CAB did not yet have evidence about its impact.  

 

Q: What are the key repair problems in this sector? 

 

The most common problem is damp and mould.  Other problems include defective 

boilers, causing lack of hot water. 

  

Q: Do people tell you why they stay in unsuitable property? 

 

AJ thought it came from a desperate feeling that they could not find an alternative 

place to live and properties which are being rented out at a reasonable rate were 

very scarce. This led people to becoming trapped in such homes.  

 

Q: Do you see students coming to get advice? 

 

 Not very often.   

 

Q: What kinds of people do seek advice from the CAB? 

 

It was very diverse and could include people who were quite old and actually had 

security of tenure but were still encountering problems. 

 

Q: Do you keep a record of good and bad landlords? 

 

Where a name was given it was noted down, but it was rare for landlords to crop up 

more than once. However all the lettings agents crop up. 

 

 

 

96



83 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

97



98



OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 50 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

  

 

Subject: Short term holiday lets scrutiny panel 

Date of Meeting: 23 March 2015 

Report of: The Strategic Director, Resources 

Contact Officer: Name:  Kath.Vlcek Tel: 29-0450 

 E-mail: Kath.vlcek@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Wards Affected: All  

 

 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE  

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 

 

1.1 A scrutiny panel was established to look at short term holiday lets catering 
for larger groups of visitors, and the impact that poorly managed 
accommodation can have on residents in the city. There is little national 
legislation that applies to this market, so the scrutiny panel agreed that it 
wanted to establish a set of best practice guidelines for operators. As part of 
the review, the panel brought together a number of local businesses in this 
field, who set up a local trade association to promote best practice.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That Overview & Scrutiny Committee members note and support the 
achievements of the Short Term Holiday Let Scrutiny Panel. 

 

3. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 

3.1 The scrutiny panel – Councillors Jayne Bennett, Geoffrey Bowden and 
Alan Robins - sought to balance the benefits brought by responsible 
short-term accommodation operators against the genuine concerns 
expressed by residents about anti-social behaviour.  

 

3.2 The panel felt it was important to find a mutually agreeable position that 
respects residents’ views, but also supported responsible short-term 
holiday let operators catering for this market. They were also mindful of 
the impact on other local businesses, in particular small hoteliers.. The 
panel had no interest in stifling business, but wanted to find a way 
forward that would benefit as many people as possible.  

99



 

 

3.3 It became clear that since a local authority’s powers are limited, aiming 
for an operational ‘gold standard’ that responsible operators could sign 
up to might be the most realisable objective for the panel. 

 
3.4 As a direct result of the establishment of the scrutiny panel, a number 

of local businesses came together to promote a ‘gold standard’ of best 
practice and offer some self-regulation of the market under the Brighton 
and Hove Holiday Rental Association (BHRA) umbrella.  

 
The association has told the panel that they are committed to 
promoting the best service for visitors, and to contributing to the 
tourism sector in the city. 

 

3.5   The panel made a number of recommendations for BHRA, the majority 
of which have been implemented through the BHRA website and ‘gold 
standard’ guidance, which is shared on their website 
http://www.brightonholidayrentals.org/. The website also gives the 
option for residents to raise noise nuisance complaints directly with 
BHRA.  

 

3.6 The report recommendations also included two caveats: 

  
Monitoring and overseeing 

 
a)  As a way of monitoring the situation, in the instance of any 

complaints being received by statutory agencies, eg noise, 
refuse, fire safety, the statutory agencies call BHRA into the 
regular Joint Intelligence Meetings straight away and consider 
investigating the properties to take any action necessary. In this 
way, we can encourage the operators to be self-monitoring but 
retain an oversight and step in as soon as a problem arises.  

 
b) The panel recommends that the council reserves the right to 

review the arrangements and bring the monitoring in-house if it 
is not deemed satisfactory. The first monitoring should take 
place after six months and the second should not take longer 
than 12 months after the report is agreed. It will be for council 
officers including Environmental Health and Planning 
Enforcement, and East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service and the 
Police to determine together with BHRA whether this is 
necessary. 

 

3.7      The Head of Regulatory Services has confirmed that the 
statutory teams including Environmental Health have not 
received any noise complaints from short-term let properties 
since 2012. They therefore do not consider there to be any need 
to bring monitoring in-house at this stage. 

 

100



 

4. CONSULTATION 

 

4.1 None has been undertaken in preparing this report. 

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 

Financial Implications: 

5.1 None to this report; the scrutiny panel work was carried out within the 
Scrutiny budget. If Environmental Health receives any complaints in the 
future, these will be investigated within existing budgets. The holiday 
rental website is managed and funded by the trade association. 

 

Legal Implications: 

 

5.2 There are no legal implications. 

 

Equalities Implications: 

5.3 there are no equalities implications. 

 

Sustainability Implications: 

5.4 None directly 

 

Crime & Disorder Implications:  

5.5 None directly, but the short term holiday let panel was set up following 
concerns about disturbance and disorder from certain properties in the 
city. Therefore any steps that can be taken to mitigate this are to be 
welcomed. 

 

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  

5.6 None directly 

 

Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

5.7 The steps taken to address residents’ concerns about short term 
holiday lets will help to reassure residents and communities in the city. 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices: 

1. List of agreed recommendations from the Short Term Holiday Let 
panel.  

 

 

101



102



Item 50 Appendix 1 

 

1. Notifying neighbours of existing short-term holiday lets –  
 
a) BHRA must take active steps to notify all neighbours in writing that they 

are living near to a short-term holiday let. Information should be given to all 
properties that are likely to be affected by any disturbance, including those 
backing onto the holiday let or in the same street. BHRA should keep a 
record of who has been notified. This should be repeated annually. 

 
b) This notification should clearly identify the property and give neighbours 

information about what guest behaviour is acceptable, the contact details 
of the private noise patrol and other contacts in case of any disturbances. 
BHRA must ensure that they have a noise patrol in operation 24 hours a 
day during weekends and bank holidays. 

 
c) Noise patrols firms used must be British Standard compliant, use body or 

head cams to record all encounters and be SIA cleared and fully trained in 
conflict resolution.  Written reports of incidents should be made within 24 
hours. 

 
d) Noise patrol companies employed should use clearly identifiable vehicles 

and personnel should wear uniforms and carry identification with them at 
all times. 

 
e) Those who raise noise complaints should be provided with a copy of the 

incident report made to the operator by the professional noise patrol, so it 
is clearly understood that their concerns have been addressed. 

 
f) In hours of daylight, the noise patrol should always attempt to knock on the 

doors of neighbours that have raised noise issues to let them know that 
action has been taken and a report will be shared. 

 
g) In hours of darkness or very early in the morning, the patrol should post a 

card through the letterbox of the neighbours who raised the original noise 
complaint to let them know the patrol has attended and that an incident 
report will be forward to them within 48 hours. 

 
h) If BHRA receive complaints, these should be resolved in line with their 

agreed procedures. The council’s Environmental Health team should also 
be notified about the nature of the complaint and the response made. If the 
council receives complaints directly, it should notify BHRA and let the 
resident know that it has done so. 

 
i) The panel recommends that where a clear breach involving noise and 

Anti-Social Behaviour has been identified prompting the forfeiture of a 
group’s deposit, the operators should actively consider donating the 
deposit direct to the neighbours as compensation or to a local 
neighbourhood community group. 

 

103



Item 50 Appendix 1 

 

j) The panel recommends that all noise patrol reports from operators should 
be routinely be posted onto the BHRA website to help build confidence 
and in the spirit of transparency. 

 
k) In addition to the leaflets , BHRA should attach a sign to the front of each 

of their properties with details of the operator and contact details of who to 
contact in case of disturbances; this should be a 24/7 service. 

 
 
l) The panel would encourage BHRA to complete its website as quickly as 

possible so that it can become active and useful. 
 

m) BHRA should promote their website as widely as possible, for the benefit 
of residents, guests and operators. The panel would like the website to list 
the street addresses of all BHRA properties to enable residents and 
statutory agencies to be able to easily check whether a property is 
operated by BHRA. This would help identify who to contact if there are any 
issues. 

 
 

2. Notifying neighbours of new short-term holiday lets.  
 
a) The panel heard that residents were aggrieved about the lack of 

notification if a new short-term holiday let was opened up in their 
neighbourhood. Whilst there is currently no statutory duty to consult with 
residents before establishing a short-term holiday let, BHRA should 
encourage potential holiday let operators to consult with and work with 
neighbours, before converting accommodation into holiday rental 
accommodation in order to open up lines of communication 

 
b) Operators should be encouraged to actively listen to neighbours’ concerns 

and suggestions about how to minimise disruption.  
 
c) In areas where there is a Local Area Team or other community forum, 

BHRA should engage with the group to notify them about the forthcoming 
holiday let and address any concerns about anti-social behaviour that 
might be raised.  

 
 

3.  Working with the council and VisitBrighton 
 
a)  BHRA members should talk to VisitBrighton about how BHRA can work 

with the tourism body for the city. In turn, VisitBrighton should seek to work 
with BHRA to promote their positive practice and make any further 
suggestions that might arise in the future.  
 

b) There should be links between the BHRA website, the VisitBrighton 
website and Brighton and Hove City Council’s website.  

 
  

104



Item 50 Appendix 1 

 

 
4. Monitoring and overseeing 
 

a)  As a way of monitoring the situation, in the instance of any complaints 
being received by statutory agencies, eg noise, refuse, fire safety, the 
statutory agencies call BHRA into the regular Joint Intelligence 
Meetings straight away and consider investigating the properties to 
take any action necessary. In this way, we can encourage the 
operators to be self-monitoring but retain an oversight and step in as 
soon as a problem arises.  

 
b) The panel recommends that the council reserves the right to review the 

arrangements and bring the monitoring in-house if it is not deemed 
satisfactory. The first monitoring should take place after six months and 
the second should not take longer than 12 months after the report is 
agreed. It will be for council officers including Environmental Health 
and Planning Enforcement, and East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service 
and the Police to determine together with BHRA whether this is 
necessary. 

 

 

105



106



POLICY & RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item  
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Review of the Council’s Constitution 2015 

Date of Meeting: 19 March 2015 – Policy & Resources Committee 
26 March 2015 – Council  

Report of: Monitoring Officer 

Contact Officer: 
Name: 

Abraham Ghebre-
Ghiorghis 

Tel: 29-1515 

 Email: abraham.ghebre-ghiorghis@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 This report proposes changes to the Council’s Constitution for approval by P&R 

and Council. The issues set out in the report have been reviewed by a cross 
party Constitution Working Group and include proposed changes to overview and 
scrutiny, establishing an advisory member procurement board, better use of 
technology for council meetings and modifications to the delegations to officers 
and committees. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
  That Policy and Resources Committee:- 
 
2.1 Recommends to full Council the proposed changes to the Council’s constitution 

as set out in paragraphs 3.4 to 3.6 and Appendix 1 relating to Overview & 
Scrutiny arrangements and policy panels; 

 
2.2 Approves the proposals set out at paragraph 3.7 and Appendix 2 to the report 

relating to establishing a Member Procurement Advisory Board; 
 

2.3 Approves the proposals set out at paragraph 3.8 – 3.9 of the report relating to 
exploring remote attendance at meetings in specified circumstances; 
 

2.4 Approves the proposals set out at paragraph 3.10 of the report relating to the use 
of electronic agendas; 
 

2.5 Approves the proposals set out at paragraph 3.11-3.13 of the report relating to 
changes to the scheme of delegations to officers and committees. 
 
That Full Council:- 

 
2.6 Approves and adopts the proposed changes to the Council’s constitution 

recommended in paragraphs 3.4 to 3.6 and Appendix 1 of the report, relating to 
Overview & Scrutiny Arrangements and policy panels; 

 

107



2.7 Authorises the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer to take all steps necessary 
or incidental to the implementation of the changes agreed by the Policy & 
Resources Committee and Council and that the Monitoring Officer be authorised 
to amend and re-publish the Council’s constitutional documents to incorporate 
the changes. 

 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 When Brighton & Hove City Council adopted its new constitution in May 2012, it 

was recognised that the arrangements would need to be kept under review to 
ensure that they remain relevant, reflect the design principles and that they are 
kept up-to-date with changes. Since the introduction of the committee system, 
the Council has taken a number of measures to ensure the arrangements remain 
effective while, at the same time, ensuring that they are as streamlined as 
possible and avoid duplication.  

 
3.2 In the last couple of years, the Council has introduced the tenant scrutiny panel 

and revised and enhanced the role of the Health & Wellbeing Board to provide 
city-wide system leadership on health, social care and wellbeing. We have seen 
the merger of the Transport and Environment & Sustainability Committees and 
the merger of the Adult Social Care Committee with Health & Wellbeing. We 
reviewed and enhanced the role of the Housing Tenant Area Panels and 
discontinued the Housing Management Sub-committee. All these measures were 
designed to ensure the system remains as streamlined and efficient as possible, 
whilst retaining high level of openness and transparency. We still have one of the 
highest levels of public participation in terms of public questions, deputations and 
petition. 

 
3.3 The Cross-Party Member Working Group on the Constitution, consisting of 

Councillors Littman, Peltzer Dunn and Morgan meets periodically to review 
proposals for change. The proposals set out below were discussed at meetings 
of the Working Group on 12th January and 6th March 2015. 
 

 Changes to Overview & Scrutiny 
 
3.4 The current constitutional arrangements reflect the design principles agreed 

when we moved to a committee system. As stated above, the decision-making 
arrangements were made as open and transparent as possible. Chairs meetings 
were opened to opposition spokespersons and a number of ad-hoc cross-party 
briefings took place. This, coupled with the fact that the Council is in no overall 
control, has ensured a high level of robust cross-party scrutiny and challenge 
within the policy committees themselves. There is therefore a need to ensure that 
there is no duplication and that the system remains as streamlined as possible. 

 
3.5 There are statutory requirements in relation to health scrutiny and also in relation 
 to flood defence and crime and disorder. Outside of these core areas, the 
 Council has flexibility as to whether or how it operates a scrutiny arrangement. 
 This is because the scrutiny function was designed as a check and balance to 
 the cabinet system, where a small number of councillors, potentially from a 
 single Party, carry all of the executive decision making powers of the Council. In 
 a committee system, political proportionality rules apply and the majority of 

108



 councillors are involved directly in decision making. In-depth scrutiny takes place 
 in committees at the point of decision making. 
 
3.6 Taking the above into account, it is proposed to review the current Overview & 

Scrutiny procedures and to streamline the arrangements in recognition of the fact 
that robust scrutiny takes place at committee meetings. The current 
arrangements will cease to exist and be replaced with the following:- 

 

• An Overview & Scrutiny Committee will be retained primarily to meet the 
statutory requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006 (amended by the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012) but will also have the power to undertake 
residual overview and scrutiny work and oversee the co-ordination of the work of 
the policy panels commissioned by Policy Committees. The powers of the 
committee will include the ability to scrutinise matters relating to the health of the 
Council’s population and to make reports and recommendations to the NHS, the 
Council, its committees and other relevant bodies. It will also provide the 
mechanism through which the Council responds to NHS consultations and any 
referrals from Healthwatch.  
 

• The Overview & Scrutiny Committee will monitor the implementation of scrutiny 
recommendations that are outstanding.  
 

• The Council will continue to meet its responsibilities in relation to flood and 
erosion risk scrutiny under the Localism Act 2011. In practice there have hardly 
been any issues coming to scrutiny on this matter and it is therefore proposed 
that this remains within the remit of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee rather 
than establish a separate committee.  
 

• The ability for councillors to refer crime and disorder matters to a Committee will 
continue, with the Overview & Scrutiny Committee being the designated Crime & 
Disorder Committee as required under the Police and Justice Act 2006.The 
presence of the Community Safety Forum means there is no need to create a 
dedicated scrutiny committee to deal with this. 

 

• The terms of reference for Policy Committees will be amended to include the 
ability to commission time limited ‘task and finish’ style policy panels. The policy 
panels will enable committees to undertake policy review and development work 
on matters which fall within their terms of reference. This work will be supported 
by officers from the relevant Directorate. There will also be some limited capacity 
retained within the Policy Team to support this work. The Policy Committees will 
need to ensure that the number of policy panels they appoint do not exceed the 
member and officer resources available to support their work. The Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee will oversee the co-ordination of this work and make 
recommendations to the Policy Committees, in particular where policy panels cut 
across the remit of more than one committee. 

 

• There will continue to be a facility for call in of decisions and ‘Councillor Call for 
Action’. This will be done via an urgency sub-committee of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee consisting of 3 Members.  
 

• The above arrangements are designed to enable the statutory scrutiny elements 
to continue within the limits of the available resources and the non-statutory 

109



policy review elements to be delivered within a new framework through the policy 
committees themselves but with a co-ordination overview through the Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee.  
 

• The current scrutiny procedures will apply, with modifications as necessary to 
reflect the above changes.  

 
 A copy of the draft amended terms of reference is attached at Appendix One. 
 

 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The Council could decide not to implement some or all of the changes set out in 

the report. Where this has budget implications, funding would need to be 
identified.  

 
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 The Cross Party Constitutional Working Group have been consulted and Leaders 

group informed of the proposals set out in the report. Where proposals will 
impact on staff, this will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Change 
Management Procedure. 

 
6. CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 The proposals reflect an approach to achieve both financial savings and 

increased efficiency and it is therefore recommended that they are pursued. 

 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 
7.1 The proposed changes to the Overview & Scrutiny Committee will provide a 
 reduced cost as a result of reduced officer support. This saving has been built 
 into the Council’s revenue budget requirement for 2015/16. The proposal to 
 introduce virtual meetings will also provide potential savings but will be subject to 
 further work to determine the full effect of the savings.  
 
 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Rob Allen Date: 19/2/15 
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 The proposals in relation to Overview & Scrutiny are consistent with the legal 
 requirements for scrutiny arrangements in a committee system, in particular   
 the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
 Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.  
 
 Where staff are affected by proposals, appropriate consultation arrangements 
 must take place and the proper procedure followed in accordance with the 
 Council’s own policies, the ACAS Code of Practice and the law, including the 
 Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.   

110



  
 Lawyer Consulted: Elizabeth Culbert Date: 19/2/15 
 
 Equalities Implications: 

 
7.3  There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.  However, as 

 the options work continues, any arising needs will be identified and met. In 
 particular, modernisation work which involves an increased use of technology will 
 need to include in its development the consideration and mitigation of any 
 equalities impact.  

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 None identified 
 

Any Other Significant Implications: 
 

7.5 None identified 
 

  

111



SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 
 

Appendices: 
 

1. Proposed Terms of Reference Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

112



Appendix 1 

PART 5 BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
  
 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 TERMS OF REFERENCE AND PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. Arrangements for Scrutiny  
  
1.1 The Council will appoint an Overview & Scrutiny Committee to perform 

the statutory Overview & Scrutiny functions in relation to health, crime 
and disorder and flood risk. The Committee will also:- 
o have the power to undertake wider Overview & Scrutiny work; 
o oversee and co-ordinate the work of policy panels commissioned by 

policy committees;  
o monitor the implementation of outstanding scrutiny 

recommendations; and  
o administer the call-in procedure for the Council through an urgency 

sub-committee. 
  
2. Terms of Reference of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
2.1 To exercise powers with regard to the scrutiny of health services 

pursuant to the National Health Service Act 2006 and in particular:- 
 

• To scrutinise matters relating to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health service in the Authority’s area and contribute 
to the development of policy and services to improve health and 
reduce health inequalities; 

 

• To comment on proposals for a substantial development or 
variation in the provision of the health service in the Authority’s area 
in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 and associated Regulations;  

 

• To review and scrutinise the impact of the Authority’s own services 
and of key partnerships on the health of its population; 

 

• To encourage the Council as a whole to take into account the 
implications of their policies and activities on health and health 
inequalities; 

 

• To make reports and recommendations to the National Health 
Service, the Council, the committees and sub-committees, and to 
other relevant bodies and individuals; 

 

• To monitor and review the outcomes of its recommendations. 
 

In all of the above, to liaise with other bodies that represent patients’ 
views in order to seek and take account of the views of the local 
populations. 

113



01/04/15 

 
2.2 To undertake the scrutiny of flood and coastal erosion plans as 

required by the Localism Act 2011; 
 

2.3 To be the designated Crime and Disorder Committee as required under 
the Police and Justice Act 2006; 

 
2.4 To review and scrutinise matters, decisions and service provision 

relating to Council functions and services not covered by paragraphs 
2.1-2.3 above; 

 
2.5 To monitor the outcome of Overview & Scrutiny recommendations; 
 
2.6 To have the power to establish an urgency sub-committee to 

administer the call in of policy committee decisions in accordance with 
these Overview & Scrutiny Committee Terms of Reference and 
Procedure Rules. 
 

3. Functions of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
3.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee will: 
 

a) Approve a scrutiny and review work programme, to ensure that 
there is efficient use of resources and that the potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised; 
 

b) Receive consultations for comment from an NHS body or relevant 
NHS service provider pursuant to the NHS Act 2006 and associated 
Regulations; 
 

c) Receive requests from Councillors and partner organisations, and 
suggestions from officers of the council, for particular topics to be 
scrutinised and determine the appropriate action; 
 

d) Have the power to call-in and review policy committee decisions, or 
key decisions made by an officer with delegated authority, as set 
out in the these Rules; 

 
e) Oversee the work and monitor the recommendations of Policy 

Panels commissioned by policy committees to undertake time 
limited policy reviews; 

 
f) Co-ordinate training and development arrangements for Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee members and co-optees; 
 
g) Monitor and review the outcomes of Overview & Scrutiny 

recommendations. 
 

114



01/04/15 

h) Ensure that the communities of Brighton & Hove and specific users 
of services are able to be involved in and inform the work of the 
committee. 

 
i) Appoint an Urgency Sub-Committee as necessary to exercise its 

powers. The Membership of such Urgency Sub-Committee shall 
consist of the Chair of the Committee and two other Members 
nominated by Leaders, to meet the requirements for the allocation 
of seats between political groups. Such Urgency Sub-Committee 
may exercise its powers in relation to matters of urgency on which it 
is necessary to make a decision before the next ordinary meeting of 
the Committee. Every decision of the Urgency Sub-Committee shall 
be reported for information to the next ordinary meeting of the 
Committee as appropriate. 

 
 

4. Policy Panels  
  

4.1 Any Policy Committee may appoint Policy Panels to carry out short, 
sharply focused pieces of policy review and development work. They 
may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, 
commission research and do all other things that they reasonably 
consider necessary to inform their deliberations. They may ask 
witnesses to attend to address them on any matter under 
consideration. 

 
4.2 All proposals to establish Policy Panels will be discussed at an Informal 

Chairs’ Meeting to assist in managing the available resources and to 
identify cross-cutting issues. Where cross-cutting issues are identified, 
these will be referred to the Overview & Scrutiny Committee, or 
Overview & Scrutiny Urgency Sub-Committee, to agree the best 
approach with a view to avoiding duplication and ensuring an effective 
use of Policy Panel resources.  

 
4.3 Policy Panels will not have Sub-Committee status and the political 

balance rules in section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 will not apply, but they will normally be established on a cross-
party basis. The Policy Panel will report to the Policy Committee that 
commissioned its work and will also provide a copy of their report to the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee. The Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
will monitor the implementation of recommendations of Policy Panels.  

 
4.4 Membership of the Policy Panels will be sought from the political 

groups, taking into account the expertise and experience of available 
Members. Co-optees may be appointed to the Policy Panels as set out 
at paragraph 7 below. 

 
4.5 There should not normally be provision for substitute Members to 

attend meetings of Policy Panels. 
 

115



01/04/15 

4.6 The relevant Policy Committee shall ensure that the number of Policy 
Panels commissioned does not exceed the capacity of the Member 
and Officer resources available to support their work. 

 
4.7 In considering whether or not any matter should be agreed for a Policy 

Panel, the relevant Policy Committee will have regard to: 
 

• The importance of the matter raised and the extent to which it 
relates to  the achievement of the Council’s strategic priorities, the 
implementation of its policies or other key issues affecting the well 
being of the City or its communities; 

• The potential benefits of a review especially in terms of possible 
improvements to future policies and procedures and/or the quality 
of Council services;  

• The proposed Overview & Scrutiny approach (a brief synopsis) and 
resources required,  

• The resources available to support the work as set out at 
paragraph 4.5 above. 

 
6. Membership of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee  
 
6.1.1 Membership of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee will reflect the 

political composition of the Council and be subject to section 15 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. No member of the Council’s 
Health and Wellbeing Board may be a member of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee. No Councillor may be involved in scrutinising a 
decision in which s/he has been directly involved. 
  

7. Co-optees  
  
7.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee will include non voting co-opted 

members from the Older People’s Council, the Youth Council and 
LINk/Healthwatch.  

 
7.2 The relevant Policy Committee may agree the appointment of non 

voting co-optees for each Policy Panel. In appointing co-opted 
Members to Policy Panels, regard will be given to both the expertise of 
the individual and the representative nature of the position. 

 
8. Meetings of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
8.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee will meet six times per annum. In 

addition, an extraordinary meeting may be called by the Chair or the 
Chief Executive at any time if they consider it necessary or desirable. 

 
8.2 Policy Panels shall meet as many times as necessary to successfully 

carry out their investigations, they shall however be time limited in 
nature.  

 

116



01/04/15 

9. Quorum  
 
9.1 The quorum for Overview & Scrutiny Committee meetings shall be as 

set out for committees and sub-committees in the Council Procedure 
Rules in Part 3 of this Constitution.  

 
10. Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Policy Panels  
 
10.1 The Council will appoint the Chair of the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee. 
 
10.2 The relevant Policy Committee will appoint the Chair of any Policy 

Panels it establishes. 
 
10.3 If the relevant Policy Committee fails to appoint a Chair, the Policy 

Panel will make the appointment at its first meeting. 
 
11. Work programme  
. 
11.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for setting its 

own work programme. 
 
12. Agenda items  
  
12.1 Agenda items shall be set by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

identifying issues which they wish to consider. 
 
12.2 Any Member of the Council may notify Democratic Services that s/he 

wishes an item relevant to the functions of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee to be included on the agenda for the next available meeting 
of the Committee.  
 

13. Submission of reports from Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
13.1 Once it has formed recommendations on any matter, the Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee will prepare a formal report and submit it to the 
Chief Executive of the Council or relevant organisation for 
consideration at the relevant decision-making body.  

 
13.2 If the Overview & Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final 

report then up to one minority report may be prepared and submitted 
for consideration by the relevant Policy Committee meeting with the 
majority report. 

 
13.3 The relevant Policy Committee shall consider the report within eight 

weeks of it being submitted to the Chief Executive or at its next 
scheduled meeting, whichever is the later, and shall prepare a 
response to the recommendations detailing whether each 
recommendation is agreed or not agreed. 

 

117



01/04/15 

13.4 The Chair of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee shall be invited to the 
Committee meeting at which the report is considered. .  

 
14. Councillor Call for Action 
 
14.1 The “Councillor Call for Action” (CCfA) as set out in Section 119 of the 

Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 enables any member of the council 
to refer to an Overview & Scrutiny committee any local issue which 
directly affects their ward. 

 
14.2 A CCfA should only be raised where other means of resolving the 

matter have been exhausted. Any Member of the Council may raise a 
CCfA, which should be sent to the Democratic Services. In seeking to 
raise a CCfA a Councillor needs to: 

 

• State why they consider the issue should be looked at by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee; 

• Give a brief synopsis of what the main areas of concern are; 

• Supply evidence in support of the CCfA; 

• Indicate areas or groups affected by the CCfA; 

• Summarise mediation and attempts at resolution undertaken; 

• Indicate deadlines associated with the CCfA of which the Health  
Scrutiny Committee needs to be aware. 

 
14.3 Upon receipt of a CCfA, the Overview & Scrutiny Committee, or 

Overview & Scrutiny Urgency Sub-Committee if the matter is urgent, 
will use the following criteria to decide whether or not to take the matter 
further: 

 

• Is the committee satisfied that all reasonable attempts have been 
made to resolve the issue by the ward councillor? Do the 
responses received by the referring councillor demonstrate that the 
matter is not being progressed? 

• Has the committee considered a similar issue recently – if yes, 
have the circumstances or evidence changed? 

• Is there a similar or related issue which is the subject of a review 
on the current work programme? It may be more appropriate to link 
the new issue to an existing review, rather than hold a separate 
CCfA hearing. 

• Relevant time pressures on resolving the CCfA should be taken 
into account. 

• Have all relevant service areas or partner organisations been 
informed and been given enough time to resolve the issue? What 
response has the councillor received? 

• Does the matter referred have the potential for recommendations 
which could realistically be implemented and lead to improvements 
for anyone living or working in the referring member’s ward? 

118



01/04/15 

• Is the matter an excluded matter, as set out in paragraph 14.9 of 
these Rules. 

 
14.4 In considering the CCfA,,the Overview & Scrutiny Committee will 

 invite the relevant Members and officers to discuss the issue  and 
 answer any questions, if the committee considers this relevant. 

 
14.5 If the committee decides not to accept the CCfA referral it must inform 

 the Councillor and provide reasons. If the committee decides to accept 
 the CCfA referral, it must decide how it intends to take the matter 
 forward and include the CCfA in its work programme. 

 
14.6 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee, in considering a CCfA, may 

undertake any of the activities as outlined in the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee Terms of Reference and Procedure Rules. 

 
14.7 The power to refer a matter is available only where the matter is of 

direct concern to the ward which the Councillor represents. A 
Councillor can refer a matter even if no citizen has asked him/her to 
consider it. 

 
14.9 The following matters are excluded from referral as a CCfA: 

• Individual complaints concerning personal grievances or 
commercial issues. 

• Any matter relating to an individual or entity where there is already 
a statutory right to a review or appeal (other than the right to 
complain to the Local Government Ombudsman), for example: 

 
§ Planning and licensing applications and appeals; 
§ Council Tax/Housing Benefits complaints and queries; 
§ Issues currently under dispute in a court of law. 
 

• Any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to 
be included on the agenda for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of 
the Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  

 
15.  Call-in 
 
15.1 Call-in is a process by which the Overview & Scrutiny Committee can 

 recommend that a decision made by a Policy Committee but not yet 
 implemented be reconsidered by the body which made the decision, or 
 recommend that the full Council consider whether that body should 
 reconsider the decision.  

  
15.2 Call-in does not provide for the Overview & Scrutiny Committee or the 

full Council to substitute its own decision, but merely to refer the matter 
back to the decision-maker.  A decision maker can only be asked to 
reconsider any particular decision once. 

 

119



01/04/15 

15.3 Call-in should only be used in very exceptional circumstances – for 
example where Members have evidence that a decision was not taken 
in accordance with Article 11 of the constitution. Day to day 
management and operational decisions taken by officers may not be 
called-in. 

 
15.4 Any decision made by a Policy Committee, or a key decision made by 

an officer under delegated powers, shall be published by means of a 
notice at the main offices of the Council (Kings House – room 131, 
Brighton Town Hall - reception, Hove Town Hall - reception) and where 
possible by electronic means, normally within 2 working days of being 
made.  All Members will be sent, if possible by electronic means, 
copies of all such decision notices at the time of publication.  

    
15.5 Any decision made by the Policy Committee, or a key decision made 

by an officer under delegated powers, may be called in up to five 
working days from the date of the meeting at which the decision was 
taken.  

 
15.6 During this period, any five Members of the Council, from a minimum of 

two political groups, may request that a decision be called-in for 
Scrutiny.  

  
15.7 Such a request shall be made in writing to the Chief Executive and 

shall include the reason(s) for the request and any alternative decision 
proposed.   The Chief Executive may refuse to accept a request which 
in his/her opinion is frivolous, vexatious or defamatory, or where no 
reason is given. 

 
15.8 If the Chief Executive accepts the request he/she shall call-in the 

decision.  This shall have the effect of suspending the decision coming 
in force and the Chief Executive shall inform the decision maker e.g. 
Committee Members, or officer and the relevant Director of the call-in. 
The Chief Executive shall then call a meeting of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Urgency Sub-Committee to scrutinise the decision, where 
possible after consultation with the relevant Chair, and in any case 
within 7 working days of accepting the call-in request. 

 
15.9 In deciding whether or not to refer a decision back, the Overview & 

Scrutiny Urgency Sub-Committee shall have regard to: 
 

• any further information which may have become available since the 
decision was made 

• the implications of any delay; and 

• whether reconsideration is likely to result in a different decision.   

• The importance of the matter raised and the extent to which it 
relates to  the achievement of the Council’s strategic priorities,  

• Whether there is evidence that the decision-making rules in the 
constitution have been breached;  

• that the agreed consultation processes have not been followed;  

120



01/04/15 

• or that a decision or action proposed or taken is not in accordance 
with a policy agreed by the Council;   

• What other avenues may be available to deal with the issue and 
the extent to which the Councillor or body submitting the request 
has already tried to resolve the issue through these channels (e.g. 
a letter to the relevant  Member, the complaints procedure, enquiry 
to the Chief Executive or Director, Council question etc.) 

 
15.10  If, having scrutinised the decision, the Overview & Scrutiny Urgency 

Sub-Committee is still concerned about it, then it may refer it back to 
the decision making body for reconsideration, setting out in writing the 
nature of its concerns. If it considers the decision is contrary to the 
policy framework or budget agreed by the Council, the matter may be 
referred to the full Council to determine whether or not it should be 
referred back to the decision making body. 

 
15.11 If the Overview & Scrutiny Urgency Sub-Committee does not meet 

within 7 working days of the Chief Executive accepting a call-in 
request, or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the 
decision making body or to the Council, the decision shall take effect 
on the date of the Overview & Scrutiny Urgency Sub-Committee 
meeting, or the expiry of the period of 7 working days from the call-in 
request being accepted, whichever is the earlier. 

 
15.12 If the decision is referred back to the decision making body, that body 

shall then reconsider, either at its next programmed meeting or at a 
special meeting called for the purpose, whether to amend the decision 
or not before reaching a final decision and implementing it. 

 
15.13 If the Overview & Scrutiny Urgency Sub-Committee refers the matter to 

full Council and the Council does not object to a decision which has 
been made, then no further action is necessary and the decision will be 
effective in accordance with the provision below. However, if the 
Council does object, the Council will refer any decision to which it 
objects back to the decision making body, together with the Council’s 
views on the decision.  In this case the decision making body shall 
consider, either at its next programmed meeting or at a special meeting 
convened for the purpose, whether to amend the decision or not before 
reaching a final decision and implementing it. 

 
15.14 If the Council does not meet within two weeks of the matter being 

referred to it, or if it does meet but does not refer the decision back to 
the decision making body or person, the decision will become effective 
on the date of the Council meeting or expiry of that two week period, 
whichever is the earlier. 

 
 
16. Call-in and urgency 
 

121



01/04/15 

16.1 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision 
being taken is urgent.  A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be 
caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or 
the public’s interests.  The record of the decision, and notice by which it 
is made public, shall state if in the opinion of the decision making body 
the decision is an urgent one and subject to the agreement of the Chief 
Executive, or in his/her absence the officer acting for him, such a 
decision shall not be subject to call-in.   

 
16.2 The Chief Executive or the Officer acting on his/her behalf shall consult 

the leaders of the Political Groups before agreeing to the exemption. 
Any decision to which the call-in process does not apply for reasons of 
urgency must be reported to the next available meeting of the Council, 
together with the reasons for urgency. 

 
16.3 The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be 

monitored annually, and a report submitted to the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee with proposals for review if necessary. 

 
17. Call In and Joint Committees 
 
17.1 The principle of call in applies to decisions made by Joint Committees 

on which the Council is represented.  The detailed arrangements 
relating to call in of Joint Committee decisions shall be agreed between 
the constituent authorities and included in the Constitution of the Joint 
Committee. 

 
 
18. Matters excluded from review by the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee       
   
18.1 The Overview & Scrutiny Committee should not review individual 

decisions made in respect of development control, licensing, 
registration, consents and other permissions.  The Overview & Scrutiny 
process is not an alternative to normal appeals procedures.   

 
18.2 The Overview & Scrutiny process is not appropriate for issues involving 

individual complaints or cases, or for which a separate process already 
exists e.g. personnel/disciplinary matters, ethical matters or allegations 
of fraud.   

 

122


	Agenda
	44 Substitutes and Declarations of Interest
	45 Minutes
	49 Report of the Scrutiny Panel on the Private Rented Sector
	Private Sector Housing FINAL for OSC

	50 Update on Short Term Lets Scrutiny Panel
	short term let recommendations

	51 Future Overview & Scrutiny Arrangements
	20150310164733_007288_0029687_Appendix1ConstitutionReportFINAL


